Does welfare mix matter?

Active citizenship in public, for-profit and nonprofit schools and nursing homes in Scandinavia

Håkon Solbu Trætteberg



PhD dissertation
Department of Political Science
Faculty of Social Sciences
University of Oslo
2016

Does welfare mix matter?

Active citizenship in public, for-profit and nonprofit schools and nursing homes in Scandinavia

Håkon Solbu Trætteberg

PhD dissertation

Department of Political Science Faculty of Social Sciences

University of Oslo

April 2016

© Håkon Solbu Trætteberg, 2016

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Oslo No. 609

ISSN 1564-3991

Does welfare mix matter? Active citizenship in public, for-profit and nonprofit schools and nursing homes in Scandinavia

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard.

Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

Acknowledgments

The three years I have spent on this dissertation has left me in a debt of gratitude to a number of people.

First and foremost, Karl Henrik Sivesind has played a key role in all stages of this work. He was the driving force when the Institute for Social Research obtained funding from the Research council of Norway for the project "Outsourcing of Scandinavian welfare societies? Consequences of private and nonprofit service provision for active citizenship". He then had the good sense to hire me for the PhD position on the project, and has led the project ever since I became involved. He has also been my main supervisor and thus given good guidance every step of the road. Karl Henrik has shown genuine enthusiasm for my work and has offered invaluable help. It has been a privilege to work with Karl Henrik and I am very thankful to him.

Larry Rose has been my co-supervisor and able to comment my work from outside of the research group. With his long experience as professor of political science, it has felt «safe» and rewarding to be able to draw on his expertise.

To write my dissertation within the frames of a bigger project has been interesting and gratifying. I have felt fortunate to work together with the other members of the project team:

Jo Saglie, Signe Bock Segaard, Lars Skov Henriksen, Malene Thøgersen and David Feltenius.

I have learned a lot from working with them. A special thanks to Malene and David who collected the data from Denmark and Sweden that is the basis for one of the articles.

It has been a great experience to work on my dissertation at the Institute for Social Research and the research group on elections, democracy, and civil society. My colleagues here have combined strong academic skills with a warm and including atmosphere, something that has made my years here a great pleasure. Bernard Enjolras was my research directors as I started at the Institute for Social Research and currently Kari Steen-Johnsen is my research director. Thanks to both of them for their encouraging and positive way to fill this role. I have presented most parts of the dissertation in internal seminars and received invaluable feedback. In addition, some of my colleagues have commented on different parts of the text outside of the seminars.

Kari Steen-Johnsen read and gave detailed, thoughtful comments on a late edition of the introductory chapter. Jo Saglie gave equally valuable comments on the first article, which is to appear in a book he co-edits with Karl Henrik Sivesind.

For many PhD candidates the final months of the work on the dissertation may be stressful and seem all-encompassing. I have been lucky enough to fill my private life with the (almost) all-encompassing activities of getting married and fathering a daughter within the last six months before submitting the dissertation. Ragnhild Elise and Ingrid have left me in no doubt what is most important in my life. I love you.

After getting married, I changed my middle name from Dalby to Solbu. At that point, one article was already published with Dalby as my middle name. One article was submitted when I was in the process of changing name, something that resulted in me not including any middle name. The last article and the dissertation itself are published with my current name: Håkon Solbu Trætteberg. Curiously, this means that I have different names in each of the three articles.

Summary

Public funding, regulation, and provision of welfare services are important components of Scandinavian welfare systems. Public funding and regulation arguably remain unchallenged in political debates in Scandinavia, while who should provide welfare services has become a salient political issue. The relevance of this issue is accentuated by ongoing changes in the Scandinavian welfare mix – the composition of public, for-profit and nonprofit providers. Public dominance over the welfare provision is now under pressure by for-profit providers. Over the last 15 years, Sweden has experienced a massive growth in the for-profit provision of welfare services, prompting questions about whether this trend will lead Sweden out of the social democratic regime. In Denmark, the high level of nonprofit provision, at least by Scandinavian standards, is being challenged by gains made by the for-profit sector. While in Norway, dominance by the public sector remains stable, and the nonprofit and for-profit sectors make up only limited shares of the welfare service provision; here too, however, the for-profit sector's share is growing.

These trends raise questions about whether it matters if public, for-profit or nonprofit providers supply publicly funded services and the effects of the mechanisms the public sector uses to contract nonpublic providers. In this dissertation, I take the perspective of the citizen who uses the services when I try to answer these questions. I use the analytic concept of active citizenship to evaluate how much control citizens have when they become users of public services. To control their lives as users of public services, citizens need to have influence. If obligations are forced upon citizens who receive such services, they will have less influence and thus less control. The concept of active citizenship comprises three dimensions: the choice users have when selecting or exiting an institution; the sense of empowerment users experience when they attempt to enact changes at the level of the institution; and the degree of participation users have in local policy processes.

The empirical investigation is based on a matching design with qualitative analysis of public and nonpublic schools and nursing homes in selected Scandinavian municipalities. One public and one nonpublic institution were compared in each municipality. The institutions were matched to be as similar as possible in terms of frame conditions, such as geography and size, in order to enable analysis of variations and consistencies between them. Interviews conducted with municipal political and administrative leaders, institutional leaders and staff

members, and representatives of users were used as the primary data source. These data were triangulated with local user surveys in municipalities that offered them and document studies at the municipal and institutional level. The data gathering process was based on a field guide that secured structure to the data collection. The findings from each municipality were presented in reports that were subsequently used as the basis for further analysis. In total, the dissertation is based on data from 27 institutions in seven municipalities in three Scandinavian countries, including 35 interviews in Denmark, 21 in Sweden and 57 in Norway.

I found that there were indeed differences between service providers from different institutional sectors. In regards to active citizenship, nonprofit schools were the most distinct. Their users tend to have more influence over the services they receive in terms of the dimensions of choice and empowerment, but less so when it comes to participation. User choice systems and the administrative freedom enjoyed by institutions are central factors that determine variations between providers in the welfare mix. User choice and greater administrative freedom allow for more variation, while bureaucratic planning in user allocation and strict public regulation allow for less variation.

Increased active citizenship seems to come at a cost, as the users who enjoy the most influence over the services they receive also have the most obligations. The state shifts responsibility to the users who, at the same time, obtain more control over the content of the services. Again, nonprofit schools serve as examples, since parents have obligations to contribute more than users at any other institution; while at the same time, they also have more influence.

Factors other than the institutional sector also influence the active citizenship of users. The results suggest that small, close-knit communities influence institutions in ways that diverge from hierarchical steering. Institutions in communities such as these exploit local networks to encourage volunteering and a sense of ownership of them. Community members who are already part of organisations and associations are recruited to make important contributions to the institutions. These mechanisms transcend the institutional sector split, since nonprofit and public institutions have the same level of access to local networks.

This dissertation consists of an introductory chapter and three articles. The first article is a chapter in a book that after a review process is accepted for publication, the second article is a

journal article that after a review process is accepted for publication, the third article is published in a journal:

Trætteberg, H.S. (Forthcoming). Active citizenship in Scandinavian schools and nursing homes. In K. H. Sivesind & J. Saglie (Eds.). Promoting active citizenship? Markets and choice in Scandinavian welfare. London: Palgrave.

Trætteberg. H. (Forthcoming). User democracy in schools? Comparing Norwegian schools with nursing homes. Accepted for publication in the *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*.

Trætteberg, H. D. (2015). Public, for-profit, and nonprofit welfare institutions in Norway: Distinctive goals and steering mechanisms or hybridity in a dominant state. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(5), pp. 1620–1638.

Table of contents

1	Int	roduction	11
	1.1	The research theme and research questions	11
	1.2	The approach in this dissertation	15
2	Ba	ckground: The welfare mix in Scandinavia	18
	2.1	The current composition of the welfare mix in Scandinavia	19
	2.2	Understanding the welfare mix in Scandinavia	21
	2.3	Previous research on the use of nonpublic providers of public services	23
3	Cit	tizen perspective on public services – small-scale democracy	26
	3.1	Conceptions of citizenship	28
	3.2	Core concept: active citizenship	31
4	Th	eories about the welfare mix	35
	4.1	Fundamental sector differences?	35
	4.2	How market mechanisms affect welfare institutions	39
	4.3	How market mechanisms affect user control in small-scale democracy	41
5	Al	ternative conditions that influence active citizenship	44
6	Re	search design, methodology and data	46
	6.1	Why a qualitative, comparative case study?	46
	6.2	Comparative dimensions	47
	6.3	The design and case selection	49
	6.4	Data collection	52
	6.5	Data analysis	54
	6.6	Reliability and transparency	56
	6.7	Ethics	56
	68	External validity	57

7	Presentation of the different articles and findings				
	7.1	Short presentation of the different articles	61		
8	Co	nclusions	65		
	8.1	There are differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers	65		
	8.2	User choice and administrative freedom influence variation in the welfare mix	67		
	8.3	The welfare mix and Scandinavian citizenship	70		
	8.4	So what? Lessons for the real world	72		
	8.5	The welfare mix and active citizenship – next steps in research	73		
9	Lit	erature	75		
T	he arti	cles	93		

1 Introduction

1.1 The research theme and research questions

This dissertation analyses the relationship between the welfare mix and active citizenship. The division of public, for-profit and nonprofit public service providers constitutes the welfare mix. Active citizenship is an analytic concept I use to evaluate how much control and influence citizens have when they become users of public services. The empirical investigation consists of a comparative case study design. I match public and nonpublic institutions in selected Scandinavian municipalities and make qualitative comparisons between countries, between public, for-profit and nonprofit institutional sectors, and between the service areas under investigation: schools and nursing homes. The data collection method used in each institution (I use institution as a general synonym for schools and nursing homes) and municipality was structured according to a field guide which focused on research questions concerning dimensions and conditions of active citizenship. In total, 27 institutions were selected in seven municipalities in Denmark, Sweden, and Norway.

Ongoing changes in the Scandinavian welfare mix accentuate the relevance of studying this issue. Traditional public dominance over the welfare provision is now under pressure by forprofit providers. For the last 15 years, Sweden has witnessed a massive growth in for-profit provision of services, prompting questions about whether this trend will lead Sweden out of the social democratic regime (Earles, 2011). In Denmark, the high level of nonprofit provision, at least by Scandinavian standards, is being challenged by gains made by the forprofit sector. In Norway, dominance by the public sector remains stable, and the nonprofit and for-profit sectors make up only limited shares of the welfare service provision; here too, however, the for-profit sector's share is growing (Sivesind, 2013, 2016). Moreover, changes in the welfare mix are being driven by the use of politically contentious market mechanisms, such as user choice (the right of an individual to choose among several service providers) and public tenders (an open bidding process where providers are chosen on the basis of price and quality), which are supposed to give users more influence and control over their care situation while at the same time boosting savings for the public purse (Meagher & Szebehely, 2013b; Rostgaard, 2011). Using pension schemes as an example, Hinrichs and Kangas (2003) suggested that small changes with almost no immediate and visible impacts can, over time,

represent a system shift. The possibility of such changes taking place in the provision of services warrants studies of the implications of such changes.

The changes themselves are not the topic of this dissertation, but they do provoke questions about the importance of which sector a provider belongs to. I assume the perspective of the citizens who use services and ask how providers being public, for-profit or nonprofit matters in terms of their ability to maintain control over their personal lives. To analyse how much control citizens have, I examined their degree of active citizenship. *Active citizenship* is an analytic concept that informs the analysis of the degree and form of user control in relation to a service provider. The concept comprises three dimensions: the *choice* users have when selecting or exiting an institution; the sense of *empowerment* users experience when they attempt to enact changes at the level of the institution; and the degree of *participation* users have in local policy processes.

The relations between institutions and citizens who use publicly funded services play out within the context of small-scale democracy. Whereas large-scale democracy concerns the level of influence citizens have over the situation of their polity, small-scale democracy is more concerned with how citizens control their own lives (Andersen & Rossteutscher, 2007). This type of control is relevant in many arenas of the everyday lives of citizens; but in this context, I am more interested in the everyday lives of citizens as users of public services. Relevant actions in small-scale democracy can be formal or informal, collective or individual, and directed toward teachers, carers or government officials, among others. The basic feature is that citizens attempt to achieve control over their lives. In schools, such actions can include issues related to details in the teaching of children or how to deal with bullying in schools. In nursing homes, issues can include the medical treatment of users or the times and content of their meals.

Traditionally, Scandinavian public sector institutions have had a reputation for being responsive to citizens (Andersen & Hoff, 2001; Petersson et al., 1989), a dynamic that gives citizens the opportunity to take control of their own lives as well as within care situations where they are dependent on the welfare state. When the dominance of the public sector in the service provision is reduced or challenged, it is important to understand the connection between the type of provider and the responsiveness of the institutions.

This dissertation intends to provide relevant knowledge by answering the overarching research question:

How do public, for-profit and nonprofit providers respectively affect the active citizenship of users of public services?

I will answer this question by exploring three subordinate research questions. First, I examine whether fundamental differences exist between different providers in the welfare mix. The first subordinate question is therefore:

What are the major differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers regarding active citizenship?

The differences between each provider in the welfare mix may not be the same across service areas and countries. The differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers can vary under different circumstances. The second subordinate question is therefore:

What explains the eventual variation in consequences of the provider belonging to the public, for-profit or nonprofit sector in regards to active citizenship?

In addition to differences between providers in the welfare mix, the public's use of governance mechanisms inspired by the market can also influence active citizenship. These mechanisms, such as quasi-markets and user choice systems, are instrumental in regulating the welfare mix. However, authorities also use them with the intention of empowering citizens regardless of which institutional sector the provider belongs to. To understand the role of different providers, it is thus necessary to understand the role of these governance mechanisms. The third subordinate question is therefore:

How can the authorities' use of market-emulating tools of governance influence the active citizenship of service users?

In broad terms, countries can design welfare services by making decisions regarding financing, regulation and provision (Alber, 1995; Lundqvist, 2001; Rothstein, 1994 p. 246). By emphasising various components of these three aspects, different scholars have identified a particular, distinctive Scandinavian welfare model (Anheier & Salamon, 2006; Buhr & Stoy, 2015; Esping-Andersen, 1990). One of the hallmarks of Scandinavian welfare societies is that the state finances, regulates and to a large extent provides services in order to obtain

equal service quality for all citizens (Fritzell et al., 2005). The result is a welfare mix – the division of public, for-profit and nonprofit providers – that is probably dominated more by the public provision than in any other western region (Anheier & Salamon, 2006; Salamon et al., 2004). A part of the reason behind this type of organisation is an attempt to achieve two simultaneous priorities: first, to help weaker groups and individuals in society improve their situation; and second, to avoid being a paternalistic construction where receiving services and benefits from the public comes with a social stigma, and where citizens are unduly subjected to the decisions of the authorities (Sejersted, 2005 p. 135). By making fundamental services universal, there are fewer stigmas involved since the publicly funded services at some point touch most citizens.

Historically, the Scandinavian social democratic approach to welfare has been that public dominance in all aspects of service provision is necessary in order to insulate citizens from the harmful effects of market forces. The public provision of services thus became a method for the collective creation of a new, democratic welfare society (Blomqvist, 2004 p. 143; Sejersted, 2005 p. 135). Indeed, the goal was to create services of such high quality that they would gain the support of citizens from all walks of life for what Rothstein (1994) labelled 'the high quality standardised solution': where almost equal welfare services were allocated to all citizens via bureaucratic planning.

In addition, the formulation of citizens' rights meant that individuals were not forced to beg for core services, but could demand them with some degree of authority (Sejersted, 2005 p. 135). The combination of democratic control of services and strong citizens' rights are central aspects of what has been called a Scandinavian form of citizenship (Andersen & Hoff, 2001; Hernes, 1988). The decentralisation of influence is a central tool used to reach the ideals of advanced social rights and equality. An implication of the decentralisation of influence is that it brings decisions about service provision as close as possible to individuals and thus gives them influence over their own situations (Andersen & Hoff, 2001).

On the input side in the electoral democracy, this has resulted in important services such as care and education have become a municipal responsibility and thus the subject of decisions made by local policymakers. These decisions are thus taken close to the citizens since 'welfare municipalities' are in charge of important services that affect people's lives (Kjølsrød, 2005; Kröger, 1997; Loughlin et al., 2011 p. 11). On the output side of the democratic process, Scandinavian citizenship entails that citizens who use services have the

power to influence the implementation of policies based on their position as autonomous users with rights to influence. This is where active citizenship is pursued: either collectively through user boards, or individually when relatives of nursing home users seek to obtain a certain approach to care or parents request special follow ups from their children's school.

1.2 The approach in this dissertation

This dissertation seeks to unite the research frontiers on Scandinavian citizenship, small-scale democracy and the welfare mix. With respect to the welfare mix, some studies have connected providers in the nonprofit sector to user control and co-production (Brandsen & Pestoff, 2006; Pestoff, 2009), but they seldom made explicit comparisons between all three institutional sectors in the welfare mix. Indeed, a recent survey of the research on the Norwegian nonprofit sector showed that studies of the welfare mix which both recognised and compared the three distinct sectors were all but absent in Norway and were also understudied in the other Scandinavian countries (Trætteberg & Sivesind, 2015).

The increased use of market mechanisms in Scandinavia, however, has been the subject of numerous studies (e.g. Hartman, 2011; Petersen et al., 2015; Wiborg, 2013). Studies such as these have focused on different aspects of cost, quality and the politics behind the use of market mechanisms and changes in the welfare mix. Other studies have investigated the link between user choice and empowerment (Hjort & Panican, 2014; Vrangbaek & Østergren, 2006) – an important aspect to consider in this dissertation. This approach is a way to connect studies of marketisation with research on the citizenship roles of users of the public sector. Yet, the connection between the citizenship roles of users, which is a pivotal part of the Scandinavian welfare model, and the welfare mix has received little attention. In this regard, this dissertation makes a genuinely new contribution to this field of research.

The empirical investigation consists of qualitative, comparative case studies in selected Scandinavian municipalities. I used a design that matched public and non-public institutions. The data consist of 35 interviews conducted in Denmark, 21 in Sweden, and 57 in Norway. Document studies and local user surveys were also important data sources. In total, investigations were conducted at 27 institutions in seven municipalities: eight institutions in two municipalities in Denmark, nine institutions in two municipalities in Sweden, and 10 institutions in three municipalities in Norway.

Schools and nursing homes were the selected service areas in this study. Education and health and social services are the main components of welfare services; consequently, nursing homes and schools represent the central branches of the Scandinavian welfare service model. They are both pivotal services; but concerning active citizenship, they have some differences that make them interesting for comparison.

Schools have a long tradition of democratic steering, also on the implementation side through local school boards and the strong position of parents (Antikainen, 2006; Oftedal Telhaug et al., 2006). The school sector is also a service area in which explicit attempts to empower through school choice are made. The right of parents to make decisions regarding the education of their children is also a reason why this service area has historically seen more acceptance of nonpublic providers, especially in Denmark (Segaard, 2015 pp. 95-96; Thuen & Tveit, 2013). In later years, the room for local influence on schools has arguably been diminished as many European states, including those which comprise Scandinavia, have become increasingly centralised in order to live up to international standards as part of the social investment agenda they have for schools (Jenson, 2013; Oftedal Telhaug et al., 2006; Van Lancker, 2013).

In contrast, nursing homes represent what is said to be the paternalistic side of the Scandinavian model. This implies that the state passivates its citizens once they become dependent on public services and imposes a content of care with little concern for their wishes. This aspect of the welfare model is connected to care services, and thus elderly care is an area where this perspective is relevant (NOU 2011: 11, pp. 40-41; Trägårdh & Svedberg, 2013). As with the school sector, the historical status of user control is also changing in this service area. Today, user autonomy and control have become central quality measures in all Scandinavian countries (Rostgaard, 2015 p. 7).

The results of this study are presented in three articles that, together with this introductory chapter, comprise the dissertation. In the introductory chapter, I will elaborate on important aspects of the research that underpin the articles, give a more comprehensive presentation of the research design and methodology, and draw some overarching conclusions that can only be observed when all of the articles are taken together. I start by presenting some background information about developments in the Scandinavian welfare mix and the research undertaken to understand it. Thereafter, I present the concepts of *small-scale democracy* and *citizenship*, followed by a section where I argue that *active citizenship* is a fruitful concept for analysing

variation in small-scale democracy. The theoretical section consists of a discussion of the central theories used to explain differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers, the market mechanisms that affect these differences, and the general importance of market mechanisms themselves. After a discussion of the data and methodology used in this dissertation, I present the articles and the main conclusions.

2 Background: The welfare mix in Scandinavia

The division of public, for-profit and nonprofit providers constitutes the welfare mix. Who is responsible for financing, regulating and providing services constitutes the division of responsibility between public and nonpublic actors (Lundqvist, 2001). Schools and nursing homes are core institutions of the Scandinavian welfare state over which the public sector has broad responsibility. The state funds both public and nonpublic providers' services. For example, users of nursing homes are charged the same regardless of whether the nursing home is public or nonpublic. All Swedish schools are free of charge. Norwegian and Danish public schools, by comparison, are also free, but users of nonprofit schools in these countries do pay fees. The public also regulates services, even if in some instances the states have different regulatory regimes for nonpublic institutions than they do for public institutions. This means that the most important variations are located at the level of the provision of services.

In this section, I will describe how the welfare mix (and ongoing changes to it) is understood from different perspectives. First, I describe the welfare mix in Scandinavia in general and in schools and nursing homes in particular. Second, I examine the main explanations for state dominance in the Scandinavian welfare mix. Third, I summarise some of the central research that has been conducted on differences between providers belonging to different sectors. Even if it often fails to recognise the three sectors in the welfare mix, it nonetheless constitutes a useful reference as the dominant approach to studying user plurality.

2.1 The current composition of the welfare mix in Scandinavia

Table 1 Paid employment in Scandinavian welfare, in percentages

Norway				Swe	den ^a		De	nmark		
			5-year			5-year			5-year	
Sector	2006	2013	Change*	2000	2013	Change*	2008	2013	change	
Nonprofit	7.4	7.8	0.3	3.5	3.2	-0.1	15.1	13.8	-1.1	
For-profit	11.5	13.4	1.2	8.7	19.2	3.8	6.5	7.1	0.5	
Public	81.2	78.8	-1.5	87.8	77.6	-3.6	78.4	79.1	0.5	
Total	528,400	632,800	12.3	1,033,597	1,230,412	6.8	590,419	614,479	0.3	

^a The numbers for Sweden are the number of employees in total, while for Norway and Denmark it is full-time employment.

Source: Translated from Sivesind (2016 p. 20).

Table 1 documents the size of the different institutional sectors in Scandinavia. The numbers reveal that the for-profit sector has grown a lot in Sweden in recent years and only moderately so in Norway and Denmark. The public sector in all three countries is approximately the same size today, but this is a relatively new situation since the Swedish for-profit sector has grown rapidly at the expense of the public sector over the last years. The Danish and Norwegian mix is by comparison relatively stable, but Denmark has a larger nonprofit sector than the other two countries. The Swedish nonprofit share is the smallest among the Scandinavian countries, and may be the smallest nonprofit sector in the Western world (Sivesind & Selle, 2009).

In this dissertation, I am especially concerned with elementary schools and nursing homes. It is thus necessary to take a closer look at these service areas in particular. In Denmark, parents are free to choose schools for their children. The number of students in nonprofit elementary schools has grown by two percentage points between 2007 and 2011, from 13 to 15 percent

^{*} Average change in shares of full-time employment over a five-year period, in percentage points.

(Thøgersen, 2015 p. 11). There are no for-profit schools in Denmark since all nonpublic schools must be self-owned, nonprofit entities. In the nursing home sector, the share of nonprofit nursing homes remained stable at 20-21 percent between 2000 and 2010, even though the total number of nursing homes has declined as part of a bigger change in the structure for elderly care in Denmark (Thøgersen, 2015 p. 16). From 2007, a change in nursing home regulations allowed for the opening of independent nursing homes that could compete with their municipal counterparts. They can now be either nonprofit or for-profit, but most nursing homes established within this framework are Christian-based nursing homes in the nonprofit sector.

In Sweden, in 2013, 13 percent of elementary school students attended nonpublic schools (Skolverket, 2014 p. 26). Sixty-six percent attended for-profit schools, while the rest attended nonprofit schools. Interestingly, the share of students attending for-profit schools is quickly rising at the expense of nonprofit schools. Between 2009 and 2013, the share of students attending for-profit schools grew by nine percentage points, while the share of students attending nonprofit schools diminished accordingly (Skolverket, 2014 p. 31). In Swedish elderly care, the numbers also show dramatic changes. The percentage of staff employed at nonprofit elderly care organisations remained stable at 2-3 percent between 1993 and 2010. However, the for-profit sector grew substantially, from virtually nonexistent to nearly 17 percent of elderly care employees; this comes at the expense of the public sector, which has correspondingly shrunk and now accounts for about 80 percent of employees (Erlandsson et al., 2013 pp. 47-48).

In Norway, 3.3 percent of elementary school students attend nonprofit schools (Utdanningsdirektoratet, 2016). This number is rather stable, experiencing only a modest 1-percentage point growth since 2005 (Utdanningsforbundet, 2014). By law, publicly funded Norwegian schools cannot distribute profits to their owners; thus, practically all of them are nonprofit. In the nursing home sector, there are no exact numbers to define the shares of the three sectors. There are different estimates that give slightly different results, but these measures describe a relatively stable situation with minor changes. Vabø et al. (2013 pp. 180-181) reported different estimates, finding that for-profits made up about 2–4 percent of the nursing home sector, while nonprofits made up 6–8 percent and the public sector accounted for 90 percent. In a recent report from the Confederation of Norwegian Service Industries, it

was found that nonprofits accounted for 5 percent of the nursing home sector, while forprofits accounted for 6 percent (NHO Service, 2015 p. 71).

This section documents the most recent developments in Scandinavian welfare. The main findings are that Sweden has seen a rapid growth in for-profit service providers, Denmark has experienced smaller changes while retaining a considerable nonprofit share, and Norway has changed little, with a small growth in for-profit service providers at the expense of the public sector. These overall developments in the entire Scandinavian welfare field can be traced to the school and nursing home areas. In the nursing home area, these developments fit well with the overall picture, while the limitation of for-profit schools in Norway and Denmark serve as examples of how to govern the welfare mix when this is what the states want. These latest developments do not change the fact that in Scandinavia the public sector dominates welfare provision. The following section will seek to explain this important heritage in comparative terms.

2.2 Understanding the welfare mix in Scandinavia

In comparative terms, the welfare mix in Scandinavia forms a specific cluster with a large public sector and limited nonprofit and for-profit sectors (Anheier & Salamon, 2006; Blomqvist, 2004; Esping-Andersen, 1990; Sivesind & Selle, 2010). The nonprofit sector was instrumental in developing the first welfare institutions, but the states have gradually taken over much of their operation, although to a lesser degree in Denmark. The social democratic regime has traditionally been hostile to the for-profit sector, mostly so in Sweden (Blomqvist, 2004 p. 140). The for-profit sector has had a historical presence in small pockets of Scandinavian welfare, but has grown over the last 20 years, especially in Sweden. This is part of a worldwide trend where market mechanisms and market actors are being used in an attempt to trim state budgets and make services more efficient (Fotaki & Boyd, 2005; Pavolini & Ranci, 2008).

The social democratic preference for public services is in part a legacy of the post-war view of the state as the modern instrument for lifting up the whole population to an acceptable, egalitarian living standard (Rothstein, 1994 p. 177; Sejersted, 2005). This view has affected the development of all three Scandinavian countries; but in Denmark, the nonprofit sector is in a stronger position and has thus been able to maintain a more prominent role as a welfare

provider than either Sweden or Norway (Henriksen & Bundesen, 2004). The state was a useful instrument for raising the living standard for different reasons. First, there were few if any alternative sources of financing. To base welfare on philanthropy and charity is not an option if there are not sufficient private sources of capital to rely on (Sivesind, 2015). Moreover, the influence the labour movement obtained on the state recast the state as a natural place to seek guarantees of social safety for the working class.

Second, and similarly, the social movements that fought in favour of social safety and equality had at their hearts the notion of individual autonomy. It has been debated whether the social democratic welfare state is an inherently paternalistic construction (for this view, see e.g. Hirdman (1987)). However, Rothstein (1998 ch. 7) rejected this view by demonstrating how the universal construction of the welfare state consistently increases the autonomy of individuals and liberates them from client relationships with the state. Trägårdh (1997, 2008) argued that this model not only liberates individuals from clientelism with the state, but from other societal actors as well. Control by the Church, families and communities is reduced as individuals obtain the safety they need from the state. This function of the state thus represents a partial victory for progressive forces in social movements.

Third, Scandinavian states have been relatively homogeneous societies. Accordingly, there has been less need to establish distinctive services for diverse groups (James, 1993). Compared to continental European welfare states, there has been no significant opposition to the ruling coalition in Scandinavia. As an example, some countries in continental Europe have both Lutheran and Catholics schools; in Scandinavia, however, dominance by the Lutheran church has made this a less relevant distinction (Anheier & Salamon, 2006 p. 108; Sivesind & Selle, 2009; Weisbrod, 1978).

The dominance of the public sector has come at the expense of nonprofit providers, who were often the pioneers of different service areas. The infiltration of nonprofit domains by the state is only been partly responsible for this development. In fact, it has been more common for nonprofits to actively encourage the state to take responsibility for the welfare of citizens in an expanding number of service areas (Kuhnle & Selle, 1992; Selle & Kuhnle, 1990). This shift in responsibility has, however, varied from service area to service area and organisation to organisation. The effect has been stronger in Sweden, where public dominance is greater, and weaker in Denmark, with Norway falling somewhere in between. The result has been that the size of the nonprofit sector has been reduced and is, for Scandinavian countries, only a

fraction of what is found in continental Europe (Salamon et al., 2004). Yet, there is important intra-Scandinavian variation as well, since the Danish nonprofit sector has been more resilient than its Norwegian and Swedish counterparts and is therefore larger (Henriksen et al., 2012). This difference is related to how the Danish welfare state has historically emphasised service providers with a differentiated service content and user choice, as opposed to the Norwegian and Swedish tradition, with a greater focus on high-quality standard solutions and strong legal rights for individuals (Andersen & Hoff, 2001).

Presently, however, this pattern has changed, with user choice having become to a varying degree a central value in all three countries, at least in the school sector (Segaard, 2015 p. 95). This is in keeping with an international trend whereby individualisation, market mechanisms and the growth of nonpublic providers has become widely prevalent (Seeleib-Kaiser, 2008).

2.3 Previous research on the use of nonpublic providers of public services

As mentioned, little empirical work has been done on the connection between the welfare mix and active citizenship. The use of for-profit providers in the delivery of public services has, however, received more attention. Research in this area has been implicitly concerned with the welfare mix as it has compared the different providers that comprise it, even if it has not always recognised the three institutional sectors. This research area is therefore part of the foundation upon which I built this dissertation.

Much of the research has focused on the role of for-profit firms, often overlooking the nonprofits. Early studies reported massive government savings because of public tenders and the use of for-profit providers. Based on empirical studies, predominantly from the US, Savas (1987) published an influential book with the telling title *Privatization: The Key to Better Government*. In one of the most cited studies on the issue, Domberger and Jensen (1997) arrived at the same result, identifying the number of providers competing in the market and the ability to specify quality in contract as central variables for efficient competition. Later studies have shown that gains made from provider privatisation are less clear when more aspects are included in the research, such as transaction costs, service sector differences, effects lasting longer than the first tender, and consequences for employees. Such aspects often received little attention in early studies; and when newer studies included them, the

results were less conclusive. In a review by Petersen et al. (2011), an effort was made to include all of these issues. They found that positive economic effects tend to decline after initial exposure to competition, and that few studies have actually considered enough relevant issues to be relevant themselves. They concluded that for so-called 'hard' technical services, savings can be obtained from letting for-profit companies compete; but in contrast, for 'soft' services like nursing homes and schools, no basis was found on which to draw similar conclusions. In an updated version, Petersen et al. (2014) surveyed studies published after 2011 and found them to be even less conclusive.

From the Scandinavian context, Bogen (2011) finds in a broad review of welfare in Norway that it was impossible to draw firm conclusions about the consequences of marketisation and private providers in the context of Norwegian welfare services. This claim is in line with results provided by Hartman (2011), who summarised research on Swedish experiences with competition over a 20-year period. The main conclusion was that the few studies that found that privatisation has had important effects on the quality or costs of the services, only covered small parts of the welfare field and often rested on an empirical design that does not allow for general conclusions.

For elderly care, studies from the US context have found that for-profit providers give poorer quality care than public or nonprofit providers (Comondore et al., 2009; Harrington et al., 2012). Concerning the Scandinavian nursing home sector, a study from Stolt et al. (2011, p. 560) found that in Sweden, 'privatization is indeed associated with significant quality differences'. They revealed that municipal entities scored better on structural factors, such as the number of employees per resident, while private entities scored better on service measures, such as having variety in terms of meals and options in terms of care plans. However, Gautun et al. (2013) used existing literature and some case studies to examine potential differences between nursing homes from different institutional sectors in Scandinavia. They discovered that although it was not possible to conclude that there were differences, this did not mean they did not exist, only that there was insufficient evidence for them. There is simply not enough research that has been conducted with a design tailored to reveal differences between institutional sectors. In a report that encompasses all of the Nordic countries, Meagher and Szebehely (2013a p. 277) concluded that there was 'no clear evidence that introducing competition and choice into Nordic eldercare services has led to cost savings

or quality improvements'. Their other main conclusion was that more research was needed, implying that such an effect may exist even if it currently remains undocumented.

In the school sector, a review encompassing research conducted in the countries belonging to The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Musset (2012 p. 43) found that 'theoretical benefits of introducing market mechanisms in education are not easily identified empirically.' In their review, Waslander et al. (2010) found that an important reason why most studies reveal minor effects on schools from market mechanisms is that a school market is inherently local. Choosing a different school than their local one often involves extra travelling for students and their parents, something that discourages changing school, and there are social costs involved in being away from established friendships. Little work has been done comparing Scandinavian experiences, since the three countries deviate on important aspects. Using scores from international student tests, some Swedish studies have suggested that marketisation reforms have improved the quality of education (Böhlmark & Lindahl, 2015), while other studies have observed that the effects are smaller (Edmark et al., 2014). Lindbom (2010) found that marketisation and private schools have added somewhat to the effect of increasing residential segregation. In Norway and Denmark, most studies have focused more on whether school choice creates differences between groups of citizens. Studies in Norway have indicated that families in nonprofit and public schools do not differ on important dimensions (Helland & Lauglo, 2005); whereas in Denmark, school choice tends to increase ethnic segregation (Rangvid, 2010).

Research on the consequences of privatisation and the use of nonpublic providers in Scandinavia is thus far inconclusive. Moreover, it seldom addresses the core interest of this dissertation: the relationship between the welfare mix and active citizenship. I therefore need to take a broader look at theories that can address my questions about the relationship between the type of provider and active citizenship, and between market conditions and active citizenship.

3 Citizen perspective on public services – small-scale democracy

In this study, I chose to investigate differences between providers in the welfare mix in terms of their users' citizenship roles. These roles are assumed within what we can term *small-scale democracy*. In the following, I first lay out the concept of small-scale democracy upon which this dissertation is based. I then discuss relevant conceptualisations of citizenship before moving on to a presentation of the concept of *active citizenship* in the following section, wherein I also explain how I deploy it as an analytic term.

Structures like the welfare state will always involve some form of imposition on individuals by institutions. To amend this 'colonization of the life world' of citizens (Habermas, 1989 p. 356), citizens need space and instruments which will enable them to guard their life worlds from state intervention. In small-scale democracy, citizens can shield their life worlds from state intervention, partly through arenas wherein the state itself invites citizens to act, and partly through arenas the citizens themselves define (Kristensen, 1999). This includes both individual and collective actions, in formal as well as informal fashions. Actions taken in small-scale democracies therefore reflect how citizens perceive their status as receivers of public care and education. Such actions thus combine the identities of citizens with their assessments of the receptiveness of the institutions in which they are involved.

The emphasis on small-scale democracy was first introduced in the Swedish citizen study (Petersson et al., 1989) and has inspired contributions based on this perspective from both Danish (Andersen, 2004 ch. 9) and Norwegian (Strømsnes, 2003) power studies. Thirteen years ago, Strømsnes (2003 p. 19) observed that what happens in the small-scale democracy has been less studied in Norway than they had been in Sweden and Denmark. This situation does not seem to have changed all that much in the decade since her observation. Besides a Master's thesis (Vedøy, 2007) and a couple of reports (Helgesen, 2006; Ødegård, 2011), there are few works that have explicitly used this approach, although a number of works have touched upon some of these same subjects (e.g. Alm Andreassen, 2009; Klausen et al., 2013; Rose, 2007).

The empirical work done on small-scale democracies has thus far largely been based on survey data. This type of research has mapped the extent and structure of participation in

small-scale democracies, what citizens do to influence them and why, who participates at the socioeconomic level, and the effects of participation (Andersen, 2004 ch. 9; Strømsnes, 2003; Van Deth et al., 2007b). Using individuals as the unit of analysis has rendered useful insights from a user's perspective, but has also yielded data about the institutions they use. The present investigation is focused more explicitly on institutions, even if it is from a citizen's perspective. It is also designed to make inferences beyond those presented in existing research, particularly in regards to the welfare mix, market governance, and opportunities for active citizenship.

Small-scale democracy has both a descriptive and normative component. Descriptively, participation in small-scale democracy includes how individuals act in order to make changes when presented with undesirable situations. This can range from informal contacts between students, parents and teachers when faced with undesirable circumstances at school, such as teaching problems or social environmental issues, to day-to-day issues at nursing homes, such as when users request different foods, sleeping times, or more social stimuli. In short, activities where individuals seek changes that they find are important for their situations are the activities that constitute participation in small-scale democracy.

Moreover, interactions with the municipal level can be a tool for citizens to protect their interests and life worlds. It is thus interesting to note how open this level is to the concerns of citizens in both general deliberations and particular approaches. Therefore, it is advisable to have a broad understanding of the frames of small-scale democracy in order to understand the routes available to affected citizens who take action to influence their own lives as users of public services. Thus, I chose to include actions taken by citizens through locally anchored institutions, such as user boards, as well as efforts made by them to influence local policymakers.

Small-scale democracy involves particularised actions taken to influence an individual or small group, whereas actions aimed at larger groups belong to the category of large-scale democracy (Van Deth et al., 2007a p. 8). The latter is the form of democracy referred to in daily parlance and concerns elections and the legislative chain of influence in society as citizens engage in collective, democratic action. There are not always clearly defined borders between small-scale and large-scale democracy (Togeby et al., 2003 p. 56; Van Deth et al., 2007a pp. 7-8).

Normatively, the significance of small-scale democracy rests, at least in part, on the assumption that it is important and desirable for citizens to have control in their own lives while dependent on public policies. This is assumed to be important because the implementation of public policies is crucial for the overall functioning of democracy. Actions taken to secure citizenship rights in small-scale democracy can, arguably, be labelled as political actions. Research on political actions has expanded in scope from solely focusing on attempts to influence elected officials and their actions (Verba & Nie, 1972) to including the implementation of policies themselves (Andersen, 2004 p. 30). The emphasis on small-scale democracy constitutes a broadening of what is seen as political participation to include issues such as user involvement in the implementation of public services and individual approaches to government (Strømsnes, 2003 pp. 28-29). When all of these small actions are included in the understanding of democracy, the analysis of democracy changes as the scope of its attention broadens. When people try to influence their own lives, they do not always conceive of it as political action, but their ability to do so is a measure of how well democracy functions.

In spite of the abovementioned broadening of the understanding of political participation in the research literature, some of the activities covered by my concept of active citizenship fall outside of the scope of political participation (Togeby et al., 2003 p. 56). For example, school-based interactions between parents and teachers can hardly be labelled 'political' actions. Andersen and Rossteutscher (2007 pp. 225-226) give three reasons why these activities are still important to study. First, from a citizenship perspective, small-scale democracy is important in its own right. People have personal autonomy and the right to control their own lives; this also extends to their capacity as users of public services. Second, actions taken in small-scale democracy concern the implementation of public policies. In a meeting between a user and a street-level bureaucrat (Lipsky, 1980), the actions of both actors are important from a policy perspective. Third, in spite of the limited effect of each individual action, the sum of all the actions taken by individual users is significant: It is the sum of all the meetings between users and welfare institutions that constitute the welfare service itself.

3.1 Conceptions of citizenship

In small-scale democracy, citizens exercise their rights. The nature of citizenship rights, and the relationship between rights and obligations, are disputed. The concept of citizenship has developed over time, but most modern debates about citizenship roles takes the seminal work of Thomas H Marshall (1950) as its point of departure. Marshall differentiated between civil, political and social citizenship rights and obligations, and traced their development to different centuries. By introducing the term *effective citizenship*, Marshall went beyond a legal understanding of the concept by establishing it as a sociological concept that can be measured (Bottomore, 1992). In other words, citizenship consists of rights that can be realised to varying degrees (Van Deth et al., 2007a p. 3).

In this study, we are interested in citizenship roles when citizens are users of public services. A number of scholars have made arguments about the connection between welfare services and citizenship (Perry & Katula, 2001). Some have pointed out the passivating effects extensive welfare rights may have on citizens (Giddens, 1998 pp. 114-115; Habermas, 1994 p. 31; Mead, 1997) and have even suggested that there may be conflict between an active state and active citizenship (Óskarsdóttir, 2007 p. 27). Some scholars, on the other hand, have pointed to the state as a facilitator of an active citizenry, since citizens gain autonomy through a large welfare state insofar as their economic and educational resources are enhanced (Andersen, 2003; Rothstein, 1998). Moreover, contrary to earlier beliefs (Salamon & Anheier, 1998), over the last decade it has been documented that the large Scandinavian states do not crowd out civil society, but rather complement it. This underlines how nonprofits in their capacity as civil society organisations have a role in expanding citizens' potential to influence society, which is the opposite of passivating citizens (Selle, 2008; Sivesind & Selle, 2009).

Miller (2000) has shown how different political groups can embrace the importance of citizenship by applying different meanings to the concept. The politicised and normative approaches to citizenship make it necessary to distinguish between different conceptions before the functioning of citizenship can be analysed. In *Citizenship and Civil Society*, Janoski (1998) differentiated between three conceptualisations of citizenship. By combining political theory with macro-empirical approaches to state and society, he identified a liberal, communitarian, and social democratic concept of citizenship, each of which overlaps with the different welfare regimes described by Esping-Andersen (1990). The differentiation between the conceptualisations is based primarily on the nature of rights the citizen has, as well as his or her obligations to the state. The market and civil society (the public sphere) are institutions that mediate between the state and the citizen (Janoski, 1998 pp. 12-13). Since not all of these

conceptualisations are equally relevant to my study, it is not critical necessary to elaborate extensively on them; rather, I present their basic framework instead.

The liberal conception of citizenship is associated with Anglo-Saxon countries, and its focus is on individual autonomy and freedom of choice. Individuals hold important and equal rights, such as civil liberties and property rights. Negative rights in the form of freedom from state intervention are instrumental (Miller, 2000 p. 50). There are no expectations as to what level rights are pursued – that is up to the individual. The emphasis is on the individual, and there are few obligations besides abiding by the rule of law. There is little room for collective rights and obligations, and the relationship with the state takes the form of a restricted exchange whereby the contractual relationship demands immediate reciprocity in terms of rights and obligations.

The communitarian conception focuses more on the collective than on the individual and is associated with continental European countries. The aim here is to create good communities based on mutuality, autonomy and participation (Selznick, 1992). Obligations individuals have toward the community are more comprehensive than rights, as shared identities and a sense of unity are being developed. The relationship between the state and the individual takes the form of a generalised exchange as citizens fulfill obligations without expecting immediate returns. The rights of citizens will eventually be fulfilled by the state, but this takes place over a long period of time (Janoski, 1998 p. 20).

The social democratic, or expansive democracy, conceptualisation is associated with the Scandinavian countries. Empowerment and participation in community decision making are regarded as central rights. This conceptualisation is distinguishable from the liberal version in that the pursuit of social mobility at the expense of others is rejected. An unwillingness to sacrifice individual rights for the benefit of community and group projects differentiates the social democratic conceptualisation from the communitarian one. On the issue of individual versus collective orientation, the social democratic conceptualisation is thus in a middle position, where:

The result is a complex self-identity that fuses individual interests through participation in community activities, whether they are work, neighborhood, or welfare-related needs, but at the same time protects individual civil rights (Janoski, 1998 p. 20).

This dissertation is concerned with themes related to the social democratic conceptualisation. In identifying this conception, Janoski is part of a tradition of scholars who have emphasised the social democratic approach to citizenship. In the 1980s, claims were made that the Scandinavian countries represented a unique model not just in regards to social democratic welfare states (Esping-Andersen, 1990) but in terms of social democratic citizenship as well (Hernes, 1988). The notion of *social democratic citizenship* refers to particularly empowering welfare states, especially when it comes to the responsiveness of public service institutions (Andersen, 2004 p. 163; Petersson et al., 1989). This activist and participatory form of citizenship consists of the democratisation of 'all areas of social life' (Hernes, 1988 p. 203), which includes the decentralisation of influence to a local level.

Tension exists between this notion of Scandinavian citizenship and the Scandinavian welfare model. Rothstein (1994) referred to the Scandinavian welfare states as 'high quality standard solutions' wherein all citizens supposedly received the same level of service content. However, the importance of equality in the provision of services translates to little variation in terms of the actual content of the services themselves. One would think that this would be the opposite of a responsive organisation, since responsiveness demands a certain level of flexibility on the part of service providers.

A core prerequisite for a functioning 'Scandinavian citizenship' is the ability for users to pursue active citizenship via publicly financed services. What role provider plurality and market mechanisms play toward achieving this type of citizenship is an empirical question for this dissertation.

3.2 Core concept: active citizenship

Small-scale democracy concerns the control citizens have in their everyday lives as users of public services. Their level of control is based on their citizenship role – the division of rights and obligations. To control their lives as users of public services, citizens need to have influence. More influence means more control, but absolute control can hardly occur in real life. If obligations are forced upon citizens who receive services, then this is the opposite of influence and entails less control.

In the research literature, active citizenship is a contested concept with no shared definition.

Different scholars have emphasised the issue of obligations in divergent ways. One approach

sees active citizenship as 'a broad range of activities that promote and sustain democracy' (Hoskins, 2014 p. 14). These activities include political participation in formal politics, but also activities situated in the work place, civil society, and the private sphere (Holford & van der Veen, 2003; Hoskins & Mascherini, 2009). This scholarly understanding of the concept overlaps with that of policymakers who believe that people should be 'architects and actors of their own lives' (Commission, 1998 p. 11). Obligations are not a prominent part of this understanding of active citizenship.

Another approach *does* emphasise increased obligations for users as aspects of the agency of citizens (Newman & Tonkens, 2011), as it uses the term active citizenship to explain why responsibilities for services are shifted from the state to the citizens (Fuller et al., 2008). These obligations can take the form of care for oneself or for relatives, and citizens are expected to be market actors who influence the welfare sector by giving market incentives to providers. This approach is paralleled by that of policymakers who see citizenship as a way to promote individual responsibilities in the relationship between the citizen and the welfare state (St. meld. 29 (2012–2013), p. 49). The two approaches just discussed overlap on important issues like the right to participate and influence, but vary in their differential emphasis on obligations and duties.

Given the unsettled status of *active citizenship* in the research literature, I have used the existing literature to develop a conception that enables the evaluation of differences in citizenship roles of users of services delivered by different providers in the welfare mix. My understanding of active citizenship takes the first approach presented above as its point of departure. However, in order to grasp the relevant aspects of provider plurality, I must also consider the obligations and duties different welfare arrangements entail for users. Accordingly, I am also concerned with the obligations and circumstances of users who are either unable or unwilling to be active citizens.

The details of my conceptualisation of active citizenship are presented in the included articles. Therefore, in this introduction, I include only a summary. In the first article, I provide a comprehensive presentation of the concept, its three dimensions, and its indicators. Put briefly, the concept of active citizenship reflects that there are three main actors involved in deciding the content of a public service when a citizen becomes a user: the user, the staff, and the administrators and local politicians at the municipal level. The user can influence a public

service by meeting with staff and institutional leaders or via changes obtained in interactions with leaders at the municipal level.

With my analytic concept, I will assess the core activities in small-scale democracy, such as day-to-day interactions between users and staff members and collective forms of user control via user boards and related media. In addition, the concept covers local political processes whereby user experiences are transmitted to the municipal level. The concept of active citizenship thus brings attention to formal as well as informal ways of influencing services and elucidates the implementation of public policies. Active citizenship encompasses the activities users can engage in when assessing where to become users – at their institutions, in local policy processes, and in their communities – in order to influence the service in question. In this respect, active citizenship is an analytic tool for elucidating variations and consistencies when comparing different service providers.

The active citizenship of users of public services is the ability citizens or their relatives have to actively control their own lives while being users of public services. Active control can be exercised prior to becoming a user or while being a user. Both choice and voice are important instruments for practicing active citizenship. More specifically, I used three dimensions of active citizenship to analyse differences in the capacity for active citizenship for users of public, for-profit and nonprofit welfare services and their next of kin: *choice*, *empowerment* and *participation*. Table 2 presents the concept with its dimensions and indicators as it is presented in the first article.

Table 2 Active citizenship, its dimensions, and its empirical indicators

Background concept	Dimensions	Empirical indicators
Active citizenship	Choice	Promoting a broader range of services where more users obtain services that cater to their interests. Formal and real exit opportunities give power to users. Influence through collective representation in user boards
	Participation	Influence through individual, day-to-day contact with staff Interactions between user representatives and municipal decision makers, either directly or mediated
		by civil society organisations.

Source: Article 1.

With its three dimensions, active citizenship is an analytic perspective that enables us to measure aspects of users' experiences with welfare services. At the same time, it is an ideal type to which an empirical reality can be compared.

In Article 2, I expand the understanding of active citizenship by taking an approach to the concept that is more in line with the second approach outlined above; consequently, this approach is inclined to examine obligations and duties, as well as situations where users are either unwilling or unable to be active citizens. The central term used in this article is *user influence*, which includes two of the dimensions of active citizenship just listed: choice and empowerment. This article demonstrates how market mechanisms can lead to a shift in the burden of obligations and responsibilities from the public sector to users and their relatives. In addition, the importance of users having a voice while being users of publicly funded services is imperative, since lacking a voice is an indicator that responsibilities may be shifted upon the user. Differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers regarding structures for voice are thus essential to investigate when evaluating active citizenship.

4 Theories about the welfare mix

In this project, I chose to examine differences between providers in the welfare mix and the conditions responsible for increasing or decreasing these differences. In the following sections, I will first lay out a theoretical argument that explains how providers from different institutional sectors are distinctive. I will then look at their relationships with public financiers to determine how these affect the distinctiveness of the providers. Thereafter, I will explore theories about how market mechanisms may create conditions whereby users gain more or less control of services.

4.1 Fundamental sector differences?

Economic theories of nonprofit organisations try in principle to answer the question of why we need a third sector when we have a market and a state. In order to do this, these theories identify essential aspects of each of the institutional sectors and explain why and how they are different (Salamon & Toepler, 2015; Steinberger, 2006).

A key expectation relates to creating complete services for the population: a fundamental component of the first dimension of active citizenship. Citizens are an increasingly diverse group with respect to culture, religion, ethnicity, and so forth, and thus it is becoming equally difficult to create services suited to individual citizens (Phillips & Smith, 2011a). Governments may lack the knowledge, capacity and coordinative ability to create a diverse enough system to cover the entire population. In addition, the public sector has a tendency to centre its attention on the median voter and majority groups in society and thus overlook the interest of marginal groups. For-profit providers offer services to the largest market segment, which is not so different from the public sector's emphasis on the median citizen.

Consequently, there is a gap in services for minority populations: a gap the nonprofit sector is well suited to fill (Weisbrod, 1978). By directing services toward smaller niches in the population, nonprofits compensate for the lack of breadth in public and for-profit providers' offerings in terms of quality, special needs, interests, methodology, ideology or beliefs (Clemens, 2006; Smith & Grønbjerg, 2006 p. 224).

Welfare services are services where there is great information asymmetry between providers of services and users. The users are often frail and the complexity of the services makes it

impossible for one user to acquire the same expertise as the professional providers. Therefore, the ability for users and society to trust providers is decisive (Hansmann, 1980). The less information users have, the more important it is for them to be able to trust the service provider. This applies both to users and public regulators, as there are limited opportunities for monitoring the quality of this type of service (Evers et al., 1997). Weisbrod (1988) proposed distinguishing between quality indicators that are easy to observe and assess and those that are difficult to observe. Different market participants have different incentives to prioritise the two different forms of quality. A profit-oriented provider has an incentive to achieve high measurable quality, but if doing so reduces profits, it will have an incentive not to devote resources to having high unobservable quality (Hansmann, 1987 p. 29). Nonprofit providers do not have the same dis-incentive to allocate resources to improve invisible quality (Salamon & Toepler, 2015 p. 2168).

Ben-Ner and Van Hoomissen (1991) complemented insights about why there is a demand for nonprofits by explaining the supply of nonprofits. To do this, they focused on the entrepreneurs who founded the nonprofit providers. These entrepreneurs had no economic incentive to create nonprofit alternatives. Therefore, a different objective must have motivated them, and this objective was often a commitment to improve the quality of services within the service area. Their participation in nonprofit activities can therefore be a basis for trust. Stakeholders seek to ensure that the organisation remains loyal to its founding values by recruiting people and establishing institutional solutions that promote adherence to their values (James, 1990). This may attract nonprofit providers that are particularly user-oriented, since the users themselves often establish the culture and define the structure of the organisation.

This is part of the backdrop when Enjolras (2009) argued that nonprofits often have governance structures that enable them to deal with the potential negative effects of lacking active owners and a well-defined target structure. Nonprofits sometimes lack economic incentives for efficient operation, which can lead to economic waste in the form of unnecessary benefits to employees or other organisational excesses (Fama & Jensen, 1983). The governance logic that remedies these potential drawbacks include membership based democracy, grassroots involvement and the internalised values of the organisation. There is no guarantee that these conditions will protect the organisation from poor operation, but they

are factors that can point in a positive direction. Democracy as a form of government can also be seen as a valuable in itself (Enjolras, 2009 p. 775).

The potential benefits of nonprofits when it comes to trust and broadening the scope of public services can help explain their functioning in the welfare mix. Yet, it is an all but universal Western phenomenon that the state shoulders the main responsibility for welfare but cooperates with nonprofit and for-profit providers in solving social and economic problems (Salamon & Toepler, 2015 p. 2161). To understand the persistence of this phenomenon, Salamon (1987) developed the theory of interdependence. Its guiding principle is that each of the three sectors has strengths and weaknesses, with the strengths of one sector to some extent compensating for the weaknesses of another.

In spite of the supposed benefits of nonprofit provision, such providers also have some potential weaknesses that make them unsuitable as the only types of providers. Their central weakness is that they do not have sufficient growth capacity to produce all of the services people want. They lack the ability to raise capital, as they tend to focus on their care mission rather than its expansion. Furthermore, the research literature holds that they are particularistic since they adapt their services to small groups and do not reach out to the whole population. Finally, they are accused of being paternalistic, providing services with a special vision for the community in mind rather than accommodating the visions of the users or of society at large (Salamon, 1987).

For-profit providers complement the strengths and weaknesses of nonprofits as they are skilled at quickly creating a large and efficient production to serve large proportions of the population. Nevertheless, for-profits have three weaknesses: They may produce too little of services (parts of) the population need; their services are often too expensive for much of the population, thereby limiting access to them; and as mentioned previously, they have public trust issues (Anheier, 2005 pp. 181-182).

The public sector aims to compensate for the failures of the for-profits. When for-profits do not provide enough of a service, the public sector can contract out the provision or the provider of the service itself. To ensure affordable prices for the population, the government can pay for the service through voucher systems or subsidies. To remedy the lack of trust, the public can regulate the service and provide increased information flow to users (Steinberger, 2006).

However, the public cannot fully compensate for the failures of the for-profits. The government tends to adapt the service to the median citizen. This makes the service maladjusted to citizens who want a particular quality of service, or who for various reasons want a type of service content that differs from the majority's preferences. Furthermore, lack of trust is often based on key aspects of health and care services not being readily observable (Steinberger, 2006). The public can thus have difficulties regulating something it does not know much about, rendering their efforts at best incomplete. These weaknesses of the state are addressed by nonprofits that cater to niche populations and enjoy more public trust (Anheier, 2005 pp. 129-131).

Consequently, the state pursues widespread cooperation with other providers in the welfare mix. Since the state cannot reach an optimal service level by providing all services in-house, and since nonprofit and for-profit providers are dependent on public financing and steering, the three sectors are interdependent. The theory of interdependence in the welfare mix has set the agenda for extensive research on the three institutional sectors and how they solve different tasks in the welfare mix (Steinberger, 2006). Much of the empirical work has been done thus far in an American context where the relationship between the sectors is different from that of Scandinavia. That said, the theory has a general scope, which suggests that the mechanisms it describes may also be active in a Scandinavian context.

The theory of interdependence gives some expectations regarding the first research question, which addresses differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers. Schools and nursing homes are complex institutions, and theories about the fundamental differences between providers can guide the data analysis as I identify differences and consistencies between them. The interdependence between state and nonpublic providers underlines how public financing and steering influence nonpublic providers. It thus gives clues about where to look for conditions that increase or decrease differences between actors in the welfare mix. The mechanisms used to govern the relationship between the state and service providers are instrumental and will be presented in the following section.

4.2 How market mechanisms affect welfare institutions

Because of the perceived differences between providers, most countries have policies to manage the composition of the welfare mix (Boris & Steuerle, 2006; Lundbäck & Lundberg, 2012; Salamon, 2002). Yet, given that there are differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers, these differences are not static. Different contexts and conditions may increase or decrease differences.

How the Scandinavian context creates conditions that affect the prominence of these differences is a central theme in the included articles. This dynamic is based on the established literature, which holds that within a contractual regime with the public sector, nonpublic providers may lose much of their distinctiveness (Salamon & Toepler, 2015 p. 2169; Toepler, 2010). However, there is an important difference between supply-based and demand-based financing of nonpublic service providers (Ascoli & Ranci, 2002 pp. 6-9). Supply-based financing involves the privatisation of the provision of services. The idea is that the state wants to change how services are supplied to the public by transferring management responsibility from a public agency to a nonpublic entity. This form of financing makes small alterations in the relationship between citizens and providers, but enables the state to make demands of potential providers who are seeking to become suppliers of services. Demandbased financing means that the state wants to change the demand structure of the provision by enabling citizens to act as market customers by selecting their own providers. The changes sought from this type of financing are thus intended to influence providers by making changes in the relationship between citizens and providers.

Supply-based privatisation of the provision of services has a tendency to weaken nonpublic distinctiveness. A particularly relevant example are public tenders. This form of provider privatisation contributes to their commercialisation and promotes innovation related to management and organisation and not to the actual content of the service (Goodin, 2003 pp. 390-391). Tenders where nonprofit and for-profit providers compete on equal terms may lead the nonprofits to adapt the for-profit operational logic in order to remain competitive (Haugh & Kitson, 2007). When Eikås and Selle (2002 p. 72) observed a trend toward increasing the use of a contractual regime in relations between nonprofits and the public sector, they foresaw a development whereby Norway was moving toward the Anglo-American model. In this

model, the nonprofits resembled for-profit providers since they were less membership-based, democratic organisations that increased nonprofit autonomy (Smith & Lipsky, 2009). A sign that the trend foreseen by Eikås and Selle is currently taking place is that some important nonprofits are downscaling their democratic structure in order to be more competitive market actors. They do this by reducing the importance of their elected bodies and giving more manoeuvrability to professional leaders who are supposedly better skilled at competing with for-profit providers for contracts with municipalities and the state (Gulbrandsen & Ødegård, 2011 pp. 61-64). Public tenders are not the only form of supply-based provider privatisation. The public can also contract nonpublic providers in a number of different ways that are to a lesser degree based on market logic. The effects of alternative forms of supply-based contracting are dependent on the level of freedom granted to the nonpublic provider under the contractual regime.

Demand-based financing takes place when the users themselves choose an institution. As long as the public sector funds the service provider, it will be dependent on approval from public agencies; once this has been obtained, it can compete to attract users. Within this regime, market mechanisms to some extent replace public regulation. Since users are able to opt in and out of different institutions, it is not necessary for the government to impose the same level of regulation as it does when all users are forced to use the same institutions. The idea is that institutions whose services are not good enough will be uncompetitive and will thus be eliminated from the quasi-market. In this way, only institutions with an acceptable level of services remain, as the market does the job that the state must do when market forces are not allowed to function. This gives the different providers increased ability to develop distinct characteristics as long as these are in accordance with users' preferences (Ascoli & Ranci, 2002). Whether this happens depends on the heterogeneity of citizens' demands and the diversity of providers. For example, a multi-religious population can include schools which cater to different religious groups, each with their own distinct approach to school operations. Supply diversity is thus an empirical question for each context.

A key point from this section is that the fundamental distinctiveness of nonpublic providers is not universal, but varies according to legal and institutional frame conditions and funding arrangements. Within a Scandinavian-like welfare model, this context is largely constituted by decisions made by the public regulator and financer. To explore conditions that increase

and decrease differences between providers in the welfare mix, it is therefore necessary to look at how the state manages its relations with different providers.

4.3 How market mechanisms affect user control in small-scale democracy

The last section looked at how market mechanisms can affect welfare institutions and thus make them more or less distinctive by comparison. In this section, I discuss how market mechanisms themselves can increase or decrease the active citizenship of users, not by affecting the institutions but by increasing or decreasing the power the user has when approaching the institutions with no regard to what institutional sector the provider belongs. This is thus a different type of explanation of variance in the importance of the welfare mix.

Publicly funded welfare services can never be considered a true market since they are based on the idea of insulating citizens from negative market effects. The public sector can, however, introduce market mechanisms and thus create a quasi-market. Le Grand and Bartlett (1993) presented five conditions needed to have a well-working quasi-market. First, the market must be structured in a way that incentivises competition and price formation, which requires various providers and many customers. Second, information must flow to users. Third, transaction costs must be limited. Fourth, the motivation of market actors must be to a certain degree based on financial considerations. Fifth, *cream skimming* must be avoided. In other words, providers cannot only serve citizens who can generate a profit for them. Le Grand and Bartlett (1993) (for an updated version, see Le Grand (2007)) identified four arguments for quasi-markets in the public service provision. The first is concerned with efficiency gains and costs for the government. The other three involve giving power to citizens. They argued that quasi-markets enhance public sector responsiveness, empower citizens by providing them with choices, and promote equality by giving market powers to all citizens, not just those able to pay for services. If market mechanisms can produce these effects, they will give citizens more control over their own lives in relation to public services and thus enable active citizenship.

Le Grand entered this debate as an economist interested in public governance. Blomqvist and Rothstein (2008 p. 15) were explicit about their perspective not being based on economic cost—benefit analysis, but rather on an approach inspired by theories of democracy. They

raised the fundamental issue of 'the black hole of democracy' (p. 16) that occurs when street-level bureaucrats exert influence over the implementation of decisions made by elected officials (Lipsky, 1980). They suggested using market mechanisms to remedy this problem by empowering citizens through user choice to select their preferred street-level bureaucrats and thus alter the power relations for the benefit of citizens.

The concept of institutionalised citizen empowerment take this power balance as a point of departure as it explores the relationships between citizens and public institutions (Kumlin, 2004 p. 56; Solevid, 2009 ch 3). The literature identifies two main factors in determining this balance: the bureaucratic discretion of institutional staff and the exit options of the users. Too much bureaucratic power in the hands of staff means that their ability to influence the implementation of services is greatly increased (Lipsky, 1980). When the content of these services are valued by both the agency and the citizen, more power by staff members disempowers citizens, and vice-versa (Hoff, 1993). The exit option enables the citizen to avoid bureaucratic power and thus shifts power from the public agency to the user. In addition to the two main factors, institutional citizen empowerment also includes other factors such as voice opportunities and legal rights. The mix of these instruments varies across Scandinavia, as Norway and Sweden have traditionally used the legal rights of citizens more actively than Denmark, which has in turn promoted more user choice and thus more exit opportunities (Andersen & Hoff, 2001). This policy has, however, changed over the last 20 years as Sweden has dramatically increased the role of user choice in its welfare services (Hartman, 2011).

Both the concept of institutionalised citizen empowerment and the black hole of democracy were inspired by Hirschman (1970) explanation of how one can enact changes in an organisation. He described three strategies for the individual: exit, voice and loyalty. The point of departure was how firms respond to consumer responses. The fundamental logic of his theory is that the firm or organisation should heed signals from its users about parts of its operation that are functioning at suboptimal levels. Based on these signals, the organisation can change its operation and improve quality in line with signals given by users. Users can send these signals in two ways: through choice (Hirschman uses the term *exit*. I use exit and choice interchangeably) and voice.

Exit is the clear-cut economic logic. In the realm of public services, it means that citizens who are unhappy with a service will choose a different institution and thus send a powerful signal

that they are not content with the service. Voice is the political option, and refers to an individual remaining in an organisation and arguing for changes in order to improve what he or she finds unsatisfactory. Hirschman argued that the efficiency of choice and voice will vary depending on the organisation, service and situation. An important factor is the loyalty of an individual to an organisation. If an unhappy user chooses to stay at an institution and ask for changes or if the user exits the institution at first opportunity, affects the pressure for change the institution experiences. This is especially relevant in care services where the social benefits of staying in a familiar environment can be considerable.

In addition to the various arguments about how different market mechanisms can give power to users, there is also the possibility of them creating the opposite effect. Critics of the use of market mechanisms point out that the privatisation of provision can sometimes be a tool not for user empowerment, but rather as a strategy for curbing public expenditure (Brennan et al., 2012; Christensen, 2012). Others point to a side effect of market mechanisms whereby power may be given to citizens, but at the same time they are made responsible for the functioning of markets and occasionally for the services themselves (Newman & Tonkens, 2011).

A take away from this section is that market mechanisms can influence active citizenship in two ways. First, market mechanisms influence institutions. When institutions change, the potential for active citizenship for users also changes. Second, market mechanisms directly change the power relations between users and institutions and thus also directly affect the possibilities for active citizenship. It is therefore necessary to be conscious of both effects when one studies the types of market conditions that increase or decrease active citizenship.

5 Alternative conditions that influence active citizenship

A main argument in this dissertation is that institutional sectors matter for active citizenship. In addition, the preceding section has shown how the allocation of contracts (e.g., through market mechanisms) is relevant for assessing capacity for active citizenship. There are, however, alternative factors that may also influence the active citizenship of users of schools and nursing homes.

Attributes of the individuals involved may also influence the capacity for active citizenship. In both nursing homes (Swagerty, 2005) and schools (Møller, 2009), leadership has been shown to have importance for the overall operation of the institution, including issues related to user influence on the service. Differences between institutions can thus occur because those in charge possess different leadership qualities, not because of the institutions themselves. At the same time, some studies have shown that staff members are differentially motivated in different institutional sectors (Perry et al., 2010): an observation that is in line with the assumption that institutional sectors matter for active citizenship.

Furthermore, the attributes of users may influence how they use their capacity for active citizenship. It is one thing for the tools needed to control one's own life to be formally available; it is another to possess the ability to exploit these tools (Bang et al., 2000 pp. 25-26). Socioeconomic status, language skills and minority preferences are all attributes of individuals that affect their capacity to enjoy public services (Djuve et al., 2011).

Legal frameworks and national or local regulations regarding user influence can also be important for access to active citizenship for citizens. These regulations can vary between service areas and can thus be used to explain differences along this comparative dimension. In other instances, different legal framework can exist between different institutional sectors. These are clearly not inherent differences between sectors, and yet differences in legal frameworks can help answer the second subordinate question that addresses variations in the importance of active citizenship for providers belonging to the public, for-profit or nonprofit sectors.

Finally, it is also possible that there are other alternative conditions that can explain differences in the capacity for active citizenship, but that my design renders me unable to identify them. I have a limited set of cases that I examine, and features that are not central in my cases may have wider importance in other instances. The qualitative approach I use in this study yields substantial knowledge about the cases that reduces the risk of overlooking important aspects; however, this possibility can never be entirely disregarded (Mahoney, 2007 p. 130).

6 Research design, methodology and data

This study was carried out within the framework of a research project titled 'Outsourcing of Scandinavian welfare societies? Consequences of private and nonprofit service provision for active citizenship'. The project was funded by the Research Council of Norway and coordinated by the Institute for Social Research in Oslo. The project duration was three and one half years, and in total seven researchers participated from The Institute for Social Research in Norway, the University of Southern Denmark and Aalborg University in Denmark, and Umeå University in Sweden. Articles 2 and 3 are based on data I collected in a Norwegian context, while Article 1 is also based on data collected by colleagues in Sweden and Denmark.

6.1 Why a qualitative, comparative case study?

Thomas (2011) differentiated between the practical units for investigation – the subject of the study – and the analytic frame which is the object of the study. In this case, both the subject (i.e., welfare institutions) and the object (i.e., the concept of active citizenship) are complex phenomena. On the explanatory side, welfare institutions are complex systems with many attributes, many of which potentially play some role in configurations that produce outcomes (Ragin, 1994 p. 115). In addition, the outcome that I chose to explain, active citizenship, is a complex concept that can be difficult to measure. To achieve good conceptual validity is therefore an important challenge, but the qualitative approach is well suited for obtaining it (George & Bennett, 2005 p. 19).

The comparative approach involves a case-based comparison of sets of cases (Ragin, 2008 pp. 13-15). My main set is municipal welfare institutions, with schools and nursing homes serving as subsets of this nested set. Likewise, each type of owner of an institution, municipal or nonpublic, constitutes another subset (e.g., municipal schools constitute one subset, private schools another, etc.). The search for patterns of commonalities and differences within and between subsets will focus on how different causal conditions are linked to divergent outcomes in interpretable ways. This enables me to look at how configurations of causes can produce different outcomes (Ragin, 1994 p. 114). My research question is based on an interest

in the differences between nonpublic and municipal providers when it comes to active citizenship. A comparative design can help reveal how institutional sector of a provider in conjunction with other causal conditions enables active citizenship. The pattern of causal conditions facilitating active citizenship can explain how and in what circumstances different providers are connected to active citizenship. The relations between the different subsets will thus give an indication about how general these causal relationships are.

This understanding of how the comparative method can be used to make causal inferences is similar to how Mjøset (2009 p. 59) understood causal mechanisms. Causal mechanisms are understood as patterns of social interaction that are triggered in different contexts. These patterns are general in nature so that, ideally, equal conditions will trigger equal mechanisms and result in equal outcomes. Accordingly, there are two challenges: identifying the mechanisms that produce an outcome and uncovering the conditions that trigger the mechanisms. An approach like the one outlined above, where subsets of cases are used to reveal causal conjunctions that produce outcomes, is a way to investigate how such mechanisms work. For my research question, it is just as central to understand the context that triggers the mechanisms. Elster (1993 p. 47) held that these mechanisms can never be fully understood due to the fluid nature of the social world. Yet, I find it fruitful to attempt to understand at least as much as I can about the importance of some aspects of the context.

In addition to providing generalisable inferences that can be made from one study alone, it is also possible that my conclusions can play a wider role when used as the basis for subsequent work. By seeing the project as a building block in the larger task of mapping the relationship between the organisation of welfare institutions and citizenship roles, the conclusions made here can be used as a basis for further theory development at a later stage (George & Bennett, 2005 p. 76).

6.2 Comparative dimensions

My primary interest is in the differences between the institutional sectors of welfare institutions with respect to how they affect active citizenship. The design does, however, also open up the possibility for other analytic dimensions. Both country and service areas are therefore dimensions which I mapped in order to explain variations and similarities.

Country: Denmark, Sweden, and Norway. Within the Scandinavian model, Sweden and Norway have traditionally focused on strengthening the legal rights of citizens as users, while Denmark has in addition actively used nonprofit actors to enhance user choice as a tool for citizen empowerment (Andersen & Hoff, 2001). Lately, there has been some convergence, as all of these countries have prioritised greater user choice (Segaard, 2015), even though there has been increased divergence in terms of the composition of the welfare mix (Sivesind, 2016). Since the year 2000, Sweden has moved toward empowerment through marketisation, with a rapidly growing for-profit share in the welfare mix. Denmark has a relatively stable, large nonprofit sector, while Norway has a stable public dominance. In this way, one might say that the three Scandinavian countries currently have three different strategies when it comes to the promotion of active citizenship (Sivesind, 2013). The three Scandinavian countries thus represent some interesting institutional differences, even if they belong to the same welfare model. Methodologically, comparisons between the countries are useful for assessing the scope of the conclusions.

Service area: Schools and nursing homes are two policy areas that are suitable for comparison. As pointed out in the introduction, these two service areas have different positions in the Scandinavian welfare model. To compare them in light of the welfare mix and active citizenship is thus useful for understanding how changes in the welfare mix could potentially have different implications in different areas of the welfare model. At the same time, they are both core areas of municipal welfare services, with different positions in the current political debate. The school sector is experiencing a dilemma whereby liberal ideas about the rights of parents to choose schools with different content or better quality and to opt out of bad schools is challenging adherence to the 'unitary school' system, where equality and social integration is emphasised (Arnesen & Lundahl, 2006). In the nursing home sector, the debate has focused less on variations in the content of care and more on efficient means by which to obtain a sufficient capacity of care with an acceptable level of quality. In addition, the structure of governance between the school and nursing home sectors is different. In schools, there is considerable national regulation with regard to the content of services (Helgøy & Homme, 2006; Rönnberg, 2014); while for elderly care, more decision making regarding the content of care is left to municipalities (Vabo, 2012).

When findings about institutional sectors are consistent across all three countries and between both service areas, they are more robust; while differences across countries and between service areas call for caution and contingent conclusions.

6.3 The design and case selection

The data were collected in order to make comparisons across all of the comparative dimensions presented above. The institutions that were studied in all three countries are administered at the municipal level. The strategy was therefore based on selecting municipalities where pairs of public and nonpublic institutions could be compared. As such, the design was developed in three steps: (1) the selection of municipalities; (2) the selection of institutions; and (3) the development and implementation of a strategy for data collection and analysis.

27 institutions were selected in seven municipalities: three municipalities in Norway, two in Sweden, and two in Denmark. The most important criterion in the selection process was that the municipalities had providers from different institutional sectors in both nursing homes and schools. Consequently, many municipalities were not deemed suitable as cases – if, for example, they only offered public nursing homes. Although the institutions are my cases of interest, the municipalities serve as frames that can be used to control attributes other than the institutional sector of providers. I had no information about the outcome of active citizenship in any of the selected municipalities. In order to obtain findings that were as robust as possible, we therefore used a strategy incorporating a diverse selection of municipalities that is beneficial 'where different combinations of variables are assumed to have effects on an outcome' (Gerring, 2008 p. 651). In this case, variations were assessed in terms of geographic location and the status of municipalities as either urban or rural. In addition, we were conscious of the political leadership of each municipality and identified particular characteristics within the municipalities that were relevant to the investigation. We aimed for variation within each country while simultaneously applying the same principle for selection in each of them. That way, the profiles of the selected municipalities featured cross-country similarities.

In Norway, all municipalities and prospective interviewees gave their approval to be part of the research. In Sweden and Denmark, the researchers experienced that both municipalities and interviewees did not want to participate, and it was thus necessary to select other suitable subjects along the same criteria. With only seven municipalities, we were forced to make some pragmatic choices, but the diversity between municipalities gave robustness to findings that occurred across dimensions (Flyvbjerg, 2006 p. 230). Table 3 provides the main characteristics for each of the selected municipalities. Since municipalities cannot be selected in a way that standardises all relevant characteristics, there are necessarily some idiosyncratic features of the municipalities that need to be reported. The column labelled 'Relevant characteristics' presents such idiosyncratic information for the different municipalities.

Table 3 Characteristics of the selected municipalities

Denmark	Schools and nursing homes	Political affiliation (at the time of data collection)	Relevant characteristics
Faaborg-Midtfyn Population: 51,634	13 public schools 15 nonprofit schools 10 public nursing homes 1 nonprofit nursing home	At the beginning of the data collection period, there was a social democratic majority. After the 2013 elections, a liberal-conservative (Venstre) majority came into power.	Faaborg-Midtfyn is situated on the island of Funen. It stands out as a municipality with a large share of students attending nonprofit schools (29 percent).
Herning Population: 56,942	31 public schools 8 nonprofit schools 10 public nursing homes 5 nonprofit nursing homes.	Liberal-conservative (Venstre) throughout the data collection period.	Herning is located on Jutland. Herning has a large number of nonprofit nursing homes.
Sweden		~	
Östersund Population: 59,485 (2012)	35 primary schools, 4 of which are private (2 for-profit, 2 nonprofit) 22 nursing homes, 15 of which are public and 7 of which are for-profit. Östersund has a municipal policy that 25 percent of nursing homes should be run by	Social democratic majority	Östersund is a small town in northern Sweden, but covers a large geographical area.

	nonpublic providers.		
Sollentuna Population: 66,859 (2012)	36 primary schools, 17 of which are private (only 2 are nonprofit; the rest are for-profit). 27 percent in private schools. 10 nursing homes, 7 of which are for-profit and 3 of which are public. The public nursing homes are run by a publicly owned company that is intended to function as a private unit.	Conservative majority for a centerright majority in the city council.	Sollentuna is one of the municipalities in Sweden that has gone the furthest toward introducing market mechanisms in the care sector and adheres strictly to an ordering–performing model. Sollentuna is a suburb of Stockholm, Sweden's capital city.
Norway	24 11' 1 1	C :	A 1 . 1.1
Asker Population: 59,571	24 public schools 3 nonprofit schools 4 public nursing homes 1 for-profit nursing home	Conservative majority	Asker is a wealthy municipality in the suburbs of Oslo, Norway's capital city. Asker is one of the first Norwegian municipalities to have a for-profit nursing home.
Steinkjer Population: 21,650	12 public schools 1 nonprofit school 3 public nursing homes 1 nonprofit nursing home	Center-left coalition	Steinkjer is a small town located in the Trønderlag region in central Norway.
Løten Population: 7,546	5 public schools 1 nonprofit school 1 public nursing home that was not included in this study.	Labour Party majority	Løten is a rural municipality with no variation in terms of the nursing home sector; therefore, only schools were investigated.

Within each municipality, we applied the matching case design strategy (Dunning, 2010 pp. 289-290). We selected two institutions from each service area: one public and one nonpublic. These institutions are complex organisations comprising a number of attributes that can

together produce a given outcome. Therefore, we tried to minimise diversity between the institutions we selected within each of the municipalities. In order to achieve a control effect for such attributes to better grasp variations stemming from the service sector, we limited diversity in terms of size, the socioeconomic circumstances of users, and geographic location. Obviously, in real life, no two institutions are sufficiently similar to achieve complete control, and I must consider this in the qualitative case analysis. Table 4 lists the municipalities and institutional sectors of the selected institutions.

Table 4 *Selected municipalities and institutional sectors of the nonpublic institutions*

Country	Municipality	Nursing home	School
Denmark	Faaborg Midtfyn	Nonprofit and public	Nonprofit and public
	Herning	Nonprofit and public	Nonprofit and public
Sweden	Östersund	For-profit and public	For-profit, nonprofit and public
	Sollentuna	For-profit and public	For-profit and public
Norway	Asker	For-profit and public	Nonprofit and public
	Steinkjer	Nonprofit and public	Nonprofit and public
	Løten	N/A	Nonprofit and public

6.4 Data collection

The data are derived from three types of sources: (1) interviews with users, staff, and leaders at the institutions, and interviews with the political and administrative leadership of the municipalities; (2) local user surveys; and (3) local strategic documents. I collected the Norwegian data; Malene Thøgersen, from University of Southern Denmark, collected the Danish data; and David Feltenius, from Umeå University, collected the Swedish data. Before collecting the data, we developed a field guide 1 that specified which sources of data were relevant. The field guide detailed what kinds of documents and local user surveys should be

52

¹ The field guide is found in an appendix 1. It is written in Norwegian.

collected and analysed, as well as who to interview. It also contained interview guides that were used to conduct semi-structured interviews with all groups of interviewees. When appropriate, one could add extra question in each country. The interview guide was developed in order to obtain information about the capacity for active citizenship in each institution. Existing literature, which was presented in the preceding sections, gave us guidance about which topics were relevant to pursue during interviews. The field guide was thus a tool for making the data collection more structured by pre-establishing the same set of questions for all cases and focusing on the issues relevant to active citizenship (George & Bennett, 2005 ch. 3). The field guide was developed by the research team at the Institute for Social Research, with input from our colleagues in Sweden and Denmark. As the only member of the team dedicated to the project full time, I played an active role in making the guide, under the supervision of the project leader.

In all cases, the interviews were conducted with one or two administrative leaders in the municipalities and with one or two political leaders. Because of this, we were not always able to cover the whole range of political views, but we nonetheless tried to select key informants with the best insights about the institutions from the perspective of the municipality. In all cases, we interviewed the leader of the institutions in question. From the staff, we selected the safety representative or leader of the local union. This was done in order to avoid selfselection, or that the leader of the institution could pick who should be our interviewees, and was based on the expectation that these staff members would be more informed than the average colleague. There were few signs of conflict between staff and leaders at the institutions, an observation that indicates that bias stemming from selecting union representatives was not too strong. To gage user opinions, we formed focus groups with either parts of the user boards or the user boards as a whole. Again, this was done in order to select individuals who were better informed than the average user. We tried to be conscientious of the fact that these users by virtue of their seat in the user board possibly had more personal resources than the average user. It must also be pointed out that the user boards in nursing homes mostly consisted of the users' relatives, not the users themselves. The same situation occurred in the investigated schools, where parents constituted the majority of users on the user boards. In some instances, people who the case study revealed to have potentially interesting perspectives were also interviewed. For example, the leader of the council for the elderly in one municipality was interviewed, as was the leader of a municipal-level council for school parents in another municipality. In total, we conducted 35 interviews in Denmark,

21 in Sweden, and 57 in Norway. Some of the interviewees were interested in conveying a particular message. For example, the leaders of the nonpublic institutions underlined their distinctiveness from the public option, which is logical given that they are in some way challenging public dominance in the welfare model. In cases like this, the interview data were evaluated in connection to other informants, and I report discrepancies in the articles. Based on all available data I try to pin down well-founded inferences that in some cases diverge from the impressions left by some of the interviewees.

Local user surveys were conducted by the municipalities. They were designed differently for each municipality, and some municipalities did not have them at all. The surveys also varied with respect to what degree they covered aspects of the services relevant to our active citizenship perspective. They are therefore not useful for making comparisons between municipalities, but in some instances, they are useful for making comparisons *within* municipalities. The surveys were thus used as background information before conducting interviews, but also served as an independent source of information about user views. This is the only data source where the opinions of large numbers of users are represented.

The local strategy and policy documents include municipal documents that cover municipal policies pertaining to the service areas or general approaches to user influence. In addition, I obtained the corresponding documents at the welfare institutions. Together with the manifestos of the local political parties, the municipal documents were used to reveal if and how the municipalities approach user influence and active citizenship. Not all of the institutions had formal steering documents; but when they did, this information was used to triangulate with interview data and user surveys. In the analysis, concurrence between different sources gave robustness to the observations, while divergence between different sources indicated that further investigation was needed; for example, by including specific questions about the contested topic in the interviews.

6.5 Data analysis

All of the data collected at 27 institutions in seven municipalities served as the basis for this dissertation. The analysis took place in three steps. First, the data were organised and the interview recordings were transcribed. In that process, the data were coded with theme codes (Sivesind, 2007) in order to facilitate the next analytical steps. The themes were based on the

indicators of the dimensions of active citizenship. The second step involved making the initial comparisons. This was done in reports that summarised the findings from each municipality.² Here, the text-bits representing the different codes were presented and analysed. The matched institutions were compared along the relevant dimensions of active citizenship in addition to other aspects that were deemed relevant for evaluation of small-scale democracy. This is the process Gerring and McDermott (2007) called *spatial comparison*. This type of comparison is spatial since there is no longitudinal dimension that gives leverage, but rather the contextual control in the quasi-experimental template with a matching design supports the internal validity. In addition, concurrent evidence from different interviewees and alternative data sources provided a triangulation effect that made the inferences better founded (Yin, 2003).

The reports also made explicit comparisons between the service areas, which makes up a relevant and interesting analytic dimension in its own right. Each report documented, analysed and compared the findings from two schools and two nursing homes (except for Løten, Norway, which had only schools). The analysis was based on the comparative logic found in Ragin (1994, 2008), where the aim is to identify similarities among cases within a type and differences between cases belonging to different types. The local researcher who collected the data wrote the reports; as part of the writing process, the results were shared and discussed, as were understandings regarding the underlying concepts so as to achieve a shared understanding and avoid conceptual stretching (Collier & Levitsky, 1997).

In the third step, the resulting reports were used as the basis for a comparison of institutions across municipalities and countries. For two of the articles, only the three Norwegian reports were used, while the remaining reports were used in the third article. Since all of the reports were structured to enable comparisons about active citizenship and to have comparable data, they were ideal for further analysis. The researcher who authored the Danish and Swedish reports commented on the use of the data collected in order to avoid misunderstandings.

-

² For the Norwegian reports, see http://www.samfunnsforskning.no/Prosjekter/Paagaaende-prosjekter/Utkontraktering-av-skandinaviske-velferdssamfunn. The Danish report is available at http://www.cifri.dk/Webnodes/da/Web/Public/Forskning+og+projekter/Outsourcing+of+welfare+societies. The Swedish reports will be made accessible upon request.

6.6 Reliability and transparency

Reliability measures the credibility of inferences. Inferences based on qualitative data like those presented in this dissertation cannot be easily replicated by obtaining access to the dataset. There is, however, general agreement about the need for researchers to make their analyses transparent and to report how the data were collected (George & Bennett, 2005 p. 106; King et al., 1994 p. 51). In addition to being tools for handling data, case reports from the municipalities also serve this purpose in this study. The case reports contain the presentation of data and the analysis, but they also provide information about the number of interviews conducted, at which level of which institution they were conducted, characteristics about each municipality and institution, and other contextual factors deemed relevant. The reports are available on the Internet and are thus available to anyone to evaluate in terms of whether the inferences based on the reports are reasonable. A full replication of the entire study is impossible for practical and ethical reasons, but this approach is an attempt to remedy some of the inherent difficulties of qualitative studies.

6.7 Ethics

This project was carried out in accordance with Norwegian legal and ethical guidelines regarding data collection, analysis and publication. The research design and interview guides were approved by the Norwegian Social Science Data Services (NSD), which is the Data Protection Official for Research.

The primary ethical concern in this research was the integrity of the interviewees, welfare institutions and municipalities. Each of these entities were given written information about the project before agreeing to participate. The information provided an outline for the project and made it clear that their participation was voluntary and could be withdrawn at any time. Municipalities and institutions gave their consent to be described without anonymity. Persons in leading positions were made aware that as long as the name of the municipality and institution were not anonymised, it would be possible to identify them. They were also given the opportunity to double check their quotations. The general public cannot identify care workers and users. Since the interviews took place at the institutions, their leaders and some staff members know the identities of the interviewees. This reality was orally presented to interviewees, and controversial quotations do not appear in the reports.

6.8 External validity

I based my findings on an investigation of only a handful of the many schools and nursing homes in Scandinavia. Statistical generalisation to a broader population is therefore not possible. I nevertheless wish to make some inferences that have wider implications beyond the confines of this study. There are two ways to justify such wider inferences.

First, a fundamental assumption about case studies is that '... the purpose of the study – at least in part – is to shed light on a larger class of cases (a population)' (Gerring, 2007 p. 20). In other words, one should be able to generalise the findings to a wider set of cases. In caseoriented research, a relevant causal feature can be treated as 'either a condition for the operation of a cause or as a cause' (Ragin, 2004 p. 48). If the feature is treated as a condition, it will be part of the definition of the population and will thus be involved in deciding the scope of the generalisation. As an example from this study, the manner in which municipalities allocate users to institutions, user choice or through a placement by a municipal bureaucrat, can be considered a cause which explains active citizenship. At the same time, user allocation can also be considered part of the definition of a population, meaning that the inferences are valid in institutions which share this particular trait. Generalisations to the class of cases that belong to this group can often be regarded as advisable when alternative explanatory factors are shown to be irrelevant. George and Bennett (2005 p. 110) pointed out that generalisations about the functioning of mechanisms and concepts to a wider set of cases can also be considered, but that the risk of overgeneralisation makes a thorough justification for such inferences necessary. If generalisations are to be made to a wider set of cases, it is necessary to be explicit about the scope of conditions for the generalisation.

A lack of consistency across cases is a general challenge for low N studies. To differentiate between natural variations and causal patterns, a certain level of consistency is needed. In this study, the three analytic dimensions – countries, services areas and institutional sectors – are natural attributes that can give leverage to contingent inferences and help identify their scope. If findings about variations between different institutional sectors are consistent across countries and municipalities, then the inferences are more generalisable than they would be if they were only found in one country or service area. The same is true for variations between service areas found in all municipalities in the three countries. The design thus gives an opportunity to make comparisons across various dimensions and to infer about the scope

condition of the cause. For findings that are specific to only one municipality, the limited number of matched cases makes it difficult to conclude that the findings are valid for a wider population beyond the context where they were generated. The design thus gives leverage to inferences that are more inclusive in scope, but makes it more difficult to arrive at more narrow, contingent generalisations (Collier & Mahoney, 1996 p. 68). In the discussion of my findings, I will return to the issue of the scope of generalisations. At this point, I will mention that the limited set of variations in important conditions in this study calls for caution in making inferences to a wider set of cases.

Therefore, a more promising approach is to look at the second perspective on external validity which claims that generalisations can be made strictly 'to theoretical propositions and not to populations or universes' (Yin, 2003 p. 10). Implicitly or explicitly, all scientific work strives to use theory to inform a case study, generate a new theory, refine an existing theory, or test a theory (George & Bennett, 2005 p. 75; Lijphart, 1971). Using thick description, case studies can uncover causal mechanisms, develop concepts, and add to or modify theoretical models (Blatter & Blume, 2008; Brady et al., 2010 p. 25). The goal of this work is to contribute to theory refinement in two separate research frontiers (Mjøset, 2006) and to show how they are linked. The research about the welfare mix and differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers includes a number of studies which elucidate variations and commonalities along a number of dimensions. However, differences in the capacity for active citizenship are not well understood, and thus it is here that I will contribute. Likewise, studies of what happens at the intersection of public welfare and citizenship in small-scale democracy have to a limited degree dealt with the issue of the welfare mix. The combination of these two research frontiers thus represents an opportunity to make important theoretical contributions in these areas.

7 Presentation of the different articles and findings

All three articles investigate the relationship between the welfare mix and active citizenship. The different articles are, however, focused on different aspects of the three dimensions of active citizenship: *choice*, *empowerment* and *participation*. Each article seeks to explain differences between providers from different institutional sectors but with respect to different aspects of active citizenship. The emphasis on rights versus duties is also different in the three articles.

The first article includes data from all of the Scandinavian countries and analyses all three dimensions. This article is more focused on the rights of users and gives less attention to duties. Unlike the other articles, this article also compares the different countries. By identifying mechanisms for enhanced active citizenship that are consistent across Scandinavia, the findings become more robust than they would have been had the data pertained only to Norway.

The second article expands the analysis of active citizenship by looking at the possible negative effects of market mechanisms. Some citizens may be unwilling or unable to be active citizens, and certain situations may increase this powerlessness. These issues are analysed in this article. Since the possible negative effects are more acutely felt at the institutional level, the relationship between the dimensions of choice and empowerment, and of the user choice and public tenders market mechanisms, are scrutinised. Participation, which refers to the relationship between the user and the municipality, is thus not considered in this article. The tension between taking steps to enhance citizens' control over services and the burden users can experience when they are given more responsibility is given particular attention.

The first two articles reveal that the choice mechanism, and especially the issue of the distinctiveness of the institutions which belong to different institutional sectors, are fundamental for active citizenship. The third article addresses this topic by exploring mechanisms by which the three different institutional sectors develop unique qualities. More than the other articles, this article sheds light on the governance of the institutions. Table 5 gives an overview of the three articles in the dissertation.

 Table 5 Overview of the three articles in the dissertation

Name of article Active citizenship in Scandinavian schools and nursing homes	Empirical scope Scandinavian	Research question Do public, for-profit, and nonprofit providers have different potentials for users to exercise active citizenship? If so, what condition(s) can explain it?	Relevant aspects of active citizenship Covers choice, empowerment and participation and is concerned more with citizens' rights than duties.
User Democracy in Schools? Comparing Norwegian Schools with Nursing Homes	Norwegian	What is the relationship between different forms of market organisation and user influence? Do users have different degrees of influence in public, for-profit and nonprofit service provider situations?	Covers choice and empowerment and is also concerned with the duties of users as well as how responsibilities can be shifted from the state and municipalities to users.
Public, For-Profit, and Nonprofit Welfare Institutions in Norway: Distinctive Goals and Steering Mechanisms or Hybridity in a Dominant State	Norwegian	In what circumstances [do] nonprofits [schools and nursing homes] operate with distinctive goals and steering mechanisms?	Covers choice and investigates the conditions that allow nonpublic institutions to be distinctive from the public option. Local governance is a central theme.

7.1 Short presentation of the different articles

Article 1: Trætteberg, H.S. (Forthcoming). Active citizenship in Scandinavian schools and nursing homes. In K. H. Sivesind & J. Saglie (Eds.). *Promoting active citizenship? Markets and choice in Scandinavian welfare.* London: Palgrave.

This article is a book chapter in an integrated anthology. Some basic information regarding case selection and methodology are absent in this chapter since they are presented in other parts of the book. The section about research design, methodology and data in the introductory section covers these issues.

The chapter assumes the task of assessing the capacity for active citizenship along all three dimensions of the concept and uses data derived from studies in all three Scandinavian countries. For the purpose of this study, the concept of active citizenship is developed and situated in the relevant literature (Andersen et al., 2005; Boje & Potucek, 2011b; Evers & Guillemard, 2013b; Newman & Tonkens, 2011). The research question is broad: Do public, for-profit and nonprofit providers have different potentials for users to exercise active citizenship? If so, what condition(s) can explain it? The chapter thus represents an overall approach to the main issues presented in this dissertation. The chapter is based on all the data collected for this project, which includes data from seven municipalities and 27 institutions summarised in case reports covering the different municipalities. In total, the data includes 113 interviews with users, staff and leaders at the institutions, as well as political and administrative leaders in the municipalities, local user surveys, and local strategic documents.

The chapter identifies small differences between nursing homes across both institutional sectors and countries. The user experience concerning active citizenship is remarkably consistent. In the school sector, there is more variation, especially between the institutional sectors. The nonprofit schools stand out as enhancing active citizenship, particularly along the dimensions of choice and empowerment. For participation, public schools provide more access to influence than their nonprofit counterparts.

To explain these differences, the chapter shows how administrative freedom and user choice are decisive factors for establishing distinctiveness for public, for-profit and nonprofit

institutions. This distinctiveness is an important factor in its own right because it is essential for real choice, but it has additional implications. When institutional arrangements allow for diversity, institutions have more flexibility in terms of how they are run. This flexibility can be used to make the institutions more responsive to users. This makes the potential for obtaining change through arenas for empowerment greater in institutions that operate within regimes that are more flexible. The potential for obtaining real changes through arenas for empowerment is therefore greater. The potential negative outcomes that can result from conditions that enable active citizenship are not prominently discussed in this chapter.

Article 2: Trætteberg. H. (Forthcoming). User Democracy in Schools? Comparing Norwegian Schools with Nursing Homes," Accepted for publication in the *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*.

This article is based on data from Norwegian municipalities. The research questions are: What is the relationship between different forms of market organisation and user influence? Do users have different degrees of influence in public, for-profit and nonprofit service provider situations? Since this article is focused on the relationship between the user and the institution, it involves the dimensions of choice and empowerment. Accordingly, participation on the municipal level is less relevant in this particular case.

This article somewhat expands on the conception of active citizenship from the first article as it specifically addresses situations in which users do not wish to be active or may be otherwise unable to exploit the potential for active citizenship. By introducing the term *burden shift*, the article demonstrates how certain measures that can be perceived as shifting power to users actually shift the burden of responsibility onto them instead, and thus represent the negative pole of active citizenship (Goertz, 2006 p. 31). The article also makes explicit comparisons between the most commonly used market mechanisms in Scandinavian welfare: user choice and public tenders.

Earlier work on user choice focused on changing power relations as the predominant mechanisms for empowerment. In this case study, this effect was shown to be of little relevance to Norwegian schools. However, user choice does have an important empowering effect in that it provides users the means to find a service which suits them. User choice in schools empowers families since it gives them a more complete range of services to choose from. Nursing homes do not have user choice, and thus nursing home users do not experience

the supposed benefits of alternative forms of contract allocation. Rather, these users are more vulnerable to burden shift than school users. At the same time, an inherent dualism exists because a prerequisite for enhanced plurality is that the public takes less responsibility for the content of the service. Parents replace the retrenchment of public responsibility as the public has less oversight over and knowledge about nonpublic schools. There is a tradeoff involved here: Less public interference means less public responsibility. Thus, user empowerment and burden shift go hand-in-hand. The users who have been the most empowered also take the most responsibility for the service. When users assume responsibility for aspects of the service, it can be an opportunity for them to influence the service, but it can also be a burden. This effect is also evident when different types of schools are compared. Nonprofit schools where parents have more influence also have the highest expectations in regards to parental contributions. Empowerment and the increased burden on users and their next of kin therefore go together when service areas and public and nonpublic providers are compared. There are important differences between how this is experienced in the different service areas, since schools expect more effort from the relatives of users than do nursing homes; however, parents in schools do not consider such expectations to be as burdensome as relatives of nursing home users.

Article 3: Trætteberg, H. D. (2015). Public, For-Profit, and Nonprofit Welfare Institutions in Norway: Distinctive Goals and Steering Mechanisms or Hybridity in a Dominant State. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(5), pp. 1620-1638.

The third article is also based on data from Norwegian municipalities. The two preceding articles demonstrate the importance of distinctiveness for active citizenship. Therefore, the third article is devoted to this issue alone. The article is focused on nonprofit providers in a Norwegian regulatory framework. The goal is to understand when and why nonprofits operate with distinctive steering mechanisms. Based on the framework of hybrid organisations, I analyse institutions in the public sector that have democratic legitimacy via a hierarchical organisation; institutions in the for-profit sector that seek efficiency in order to compete in the market; and institutions in the nonprofit sector that operate according to a civil society logic. The study revealed how more detached user choice-based regulation of nonprofit schools gives them more room to pursue goals different from those of their public sector counterparts; this finding can be contrasted with the hierarchical, public tender-based regulation of nursing

homes that have far less room for steering independent from the municipalities. Surprisingly, the results also suggest that small, close-knit communities influence institutions in ways that diverge from hierarchical steering. Institutions in small, close-knit communities exploit local networks to promote volunteering and a sense of ownership in the institutions. Members of the community who are already part of organisations and associations are recruited to make important contributions to the institutions. These mechanisms transcend the institutional sector split, since nonprofit and public institutions have the same access to these local networks. This effect was not considered at the outset of the investigation and shows how it is not possible to consider all the possible dimensions in a comparative design. Some mechanisms can only be accounted for on a case-by-case basis.

8 Conclusions

All three articles make conclusions related to their particular research question, but the first article involves broad research questions that encompass many of the inferences relevant for the dissertation. Yet, when looking at all the articles together, some wider reflections can be made. As mentioned, the explicit connection between small-scale democracy and the welfare mix is not well explored in Scandinavia. This connection is implicitly addressed in the articles, but in this concluding section I will make some explicit observations. However, before doing so, the research questions formulated in the introduction must be answered. The first research question concerns fundamental differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers with respect to active citizenship.

8.1 There are differences between public, for-profit and nonprofit providers

All three articles make unique contributions by showing that there are different potentials for active citizenship between providers in the welfare mix. The recurring finding is that a subset of cases constituted by nonprofit schools has the greatest level of active citizenship, at least along the dimensions of choice and empowerment. The Swedish for-profit schools function at about the same level as public schools when it comes to active citizenship. The generalisability of increased potential for active citizenship in nonprofit institutions depends on the consistency of these features. Three factors, however, warrant caution.

First, in the first article, it is shown how a Swedish public school that has a 'parent-run' governance structure is empowering in much the same way as nonprofit schools. In this school, the parents are members of the school board, which is more competent than those in other public schools, similar to what we see in nonpublic schools. Yet, even if the potential for active citizenship also exists within the public structure, it seems like it is harder to achieve here than it is in nonprofit institutions. This Swedish public school is an exception, since municipalities in most cases want to keep a level of control over their schools that limits room for alternative sources of influence, such as parents.

Second, the findings from the nursing homes warrant caution in the interpretation of nonprofit advantage when it comes to active citizenship. A consistent pattern for nursing homes in all

countries is that there are no differences between institutions from different institutional sectors in terms of active citizenship. This means that the findings about differences between different providers in the welfare mix is context-dependent and cannot be generalised to other service areas other than schools without further research. The consistent lack of variations among the nursing homes suggests that they operate within a context that allows little differentiation, even if the potential for differentiation exists. Other studies from different contexts have shown that there are differences between different types of nursing homes when looking at different aspects of their operation (Comondore et al., 2009; Stolt et al., 2011), a finding which suggests that differences in active citizenship can occur in the context of nursing homes if they are allowed to develop.

Third, for the dimension of participation, users of nonprofit schools have fewer opportunities for active citizenship than users of public schools. The three dimensions of active citizenship have the same significance as they together constitute the concept. For different users, however, the various dimensions may have different levels of importance. Parents in public schools may value their increased opportunity to participate, whereas parents in nonprofit schools may not. Integration in the public structure places greater emphasis on the opportunity to participate than it does on users who are more detached from the public structures. At the same time, the lack of an opportunity to participate is something users of nonprofit schools regret.

If the variations documented in this study stemmed from the personal attributes of users, leaders or staff, then one would expect there to be no consistency in the variations. I found, however, two clear patterns: little variation in the nursing home area, and consistent variation in the school area. This suggests that personal attributes, albeit important when looking at variations between individuals, cannot explain variations and consistencies between institutions. The variations between the service areas shows how differences between different institutional sectors are dependent on other factors, such as public governance. The one kind of institution that stands out are nonprofit schools, which demonstrates their potential to facilitate active citizenship when the conditions allow for it.

8.2 User choice and administrative freedom influence variation in the welfare mix

Service sector differences are no surprise, as citizen actions in small-scale democracy have earlier been demonstrated to be largest in elementary education (Andersen & Rossteutscher, 2007). Earlier studies have documented this relationship beyond what I have done in this study. In answering why these differences occur, these studies used surveys to determine what motivates users to take action (Kriesi & Westholm, 2007). In this study, I have been able to explore the institutional frames that may make it easier or harder for users to influence the service. By focusing on features of the providers and their contexts, I give a more nuanced view of potential routes for action.

This brings us to the second and third research questions, which address conditions that increase or decrease differences between providers when it comes to active citizenship, and how market mechanisms in the governance of public services influence the active citizenship of users, respectively. Two key features are decisive for explaining consistencies between nursing homes and variations between schools: user choice and administrative freedom.

In no nursing home in this study did users find that they had power to demand changes based on an opportunity to exit the institution. Moreover, there are no differences between the nursing homes stemming from their institutional sectors. In Article 1, I show how a lack of user choice and administrative freedom are central explanations for these circumstances.

In principle, all three countries have some level of user choice in the school sector. In all instances, nonprofit schools were distinctive from the public option and thus represented a broadening of services. In Sweden, for-profit schools are to a lesser degree different and their lack of an alternative vision is explicitly explained through the non-ideological status of the for-profits. The for-profits seem to contribute more than the nonprofits, however, in stimulating competition between schools. This is the only place where students can use the possibility to exit as a bargaining chip with the schools. In Denmark, nonprofit schools and public schools do experience competition, but students do not threaten to change schools. This point about for-profit schools must be qualified, however, since for-profit schools are only found in Sweden. There is thus a possibility that alternative institutional factors operating in the Swedish context confuse the importance of the institutional sector of the for-profit schools with alternative variables.

Both schools and nursing homes are mainly financed and regulated by the public; and yet, there are differences in terms of how much freedom the providers have. In the school sector, nonpublic schools are regulated at the national level, while nursing homes are contracted to municipalities. The latter contracts are given after a public tender, or are part of a longstanding cooperative arrangement whereby municipalities have ample room to intervene in detailed aspects of their operations. This gives nonprofit schools more room to set their own goals, establish their own unique organisation, and allocate their resources as they wish. This also gives them the opportunity to create distinctive services and involve users in them to a greater extent. The combination of user choice and administrative freedom is important for nonprofit schools, since students who attend nonpublic schools actively seek to join them, something that makes their distinct operation possible.

The identification of administrative freedom and user choice as decisive for explaining differences between providers in the welfare mix is in line with the existing literature. Together with different rationalities and identities, governance is essential for explaining differences or hybridities between the actors in the welfare mix (Bossy et al., 2015; Skelcher & Smith, 2014). Article 3, however, documents another condition: that institutional sector plays an important role in producing some of the distinctiveness one would expect to find in nonprofit institutions. In this article, I document how the location of the institutions, in small close-knit communities with strong network effects, is important. It is particularly interesting in this case because this effect produces what I call a *civil society logic* in the operations of the institutions, even in the ones that belong to the other institutional sectors. This entails that anchoring operations in civil society is also possible for institutions from other institutional sectors, and that there are limits to what steps policymakers can take to obtain some beneficial attributes for active citizenship.

From the existing research on Norwegian nonprofits, member-based democracies of nonprofit providers has been identified as mechanisms that provide autonomy from public and market forces (Eikås & Selle, 2002 p. 52). In a recent publication, Selle (2016) argued that these mechanisms have been weakened, which has in turn also weakened nonprofit distinctiveness. The empirical investigation presented in this dissertation is insufficient to draw conclusions about this effect. There does seem, however, to be an ability and willingness on the part of nonprofit schools to involve users in the governance of the institutions. The distinctiveness of the institutions is the reason why users have chosen them, and they thus look to safeguard this

distinctiveness when they are able to influence the operations of the schools. In these cases, users therefore function in a comparable manner to members in the abovementioned studies. At times, users can be both members and users, but by involving stakeholders other than members, nonprofits are able to preserve their distinctiveness. Again, this effect seems dependent on user choice, as user choice is necessary for stakeholders to be sufficiently entrenched in the ideas behind the distinctive features of the institutions.

The theory of interdependence previously discussed holds that a welfare field functions best if all providers in the welfare mix are present, since each complements the others. The Scandinavian nursing home sector has been an outlier in this sense, since up until 25 years ago there were hardly any for-profit nursing homes and in Sweden it was also few nonprofits (Meagher & Szebehely, 2013b). This has changed considerably since then, but it looks as if municipalities have not yet been able to reap the potential benefits of a differentiated provider structure for active citizenship. The municipalities have arguably made some economic and administrative gains from the use of open tenders (Feltenius, Forthcoming). Yet, because I found no such effects for active citizenship, there seems to be an unused potential for active citizenship. The lack of differences between the different providers reinforces the principle of equality that is a basic value in the Scandinavian welfare model, but the downside is that it reduces the possibility for services to be adapted to a more multifaceted population. A prerequisite for a successful welfare society is the ability to adapt to changing conditions. It remains an open question if the lack of ability to use the welfare mix represents an unused opportunity in the context of Scandinavian elderly care.

At the same time, the findings of this study may challenge the presumption that the state and nonpublic providers are interdependent (Salamon, 1987; Steinberger, 2006). The lack of available spaces in nursing homes is not the result of administrative inability to expand the capacity, but rather the result of economic consideration in a system where the public is almost solely responsible for financing the development of new nursing home places. The state is also in charge of allocating users to institutions. In this way, the ability of for-profits to rapidly expand their service is not interesting. The nonprofit's ability to cater to niches is also superfluous as there is no way for users to seek what these niches offer. This implies that user choice and sufficient capacity or diverse sources of financing may be scope conditions that limit the generalisability of the theory of interdependence. Further research within a Scandinavian empirical reality may add robustness to such a conclusion.

8.3 The welfare mix and Scandinavian citizenship

When the leaders of the Danish and Norwegian power studies were invited to reflect upon why Danish conclusions about democracy were more positive than those of their Norwegian counterparts, they agreed that the stronger Danish emphasis on citizenship and 'democracy from below' were part of the explanation (Togeby, 2005 pp. 57-58; Østerud, 2005). An element of the democracy from below approach is that it allows increased emphasis on the interests of weaker groups and individuals in society. The design of the research presented in this dissertation does not allow for particular attention to be paid to weaker groups, although some reflections are still pertinent.

Article 2 documents tension in the dimension of empowerment and the relationship between responsibility and power. To give more power over care content to citizens means reducing the power of public administrators and politicians – with power comes responsibility. When users have increased power and influence over services, they also have more responsibility for how the content of care functions. Verhoeven and Tonkens (2013) showed that the British government attempts to encourage citizens to take more responsibility for services by emphasising its empowering effects; while in The Netherlands, emphasis is placed on the duties and responsibilities of citizens. This study takes the perspective of citizens, not governments, and the findings indicate that both experiences exist in the same welfare regime. In schools, parents feel empowered and in control when the state reduces its level of control; while in nursing homes, users find themselves disempowered. In the first case, users feel they can decide the content of the service; in the second, they feel they must perform the service themselves. In much of the research literature, inequality is regarded as the most likely drawback if power is transferred to individuals (Rothstein, 1998 pp. 31-32). My research does not undermine this point, but complements it by identifying powerlessness and the burden shift as other possible side effects.

Articles 1 and 2 give one constant finding across countries and service areas: that increased responsibility is felt only when power and responsibility are transferred to individual users. In cases where users are collectively empowered, like in nonprofit schools, the state reduces its burden of responsibility the most. Still, in these cases, users do not find that responsibility has been unduly shifted to them. This is partly a function of users actively seeking this position, but in any case, it demonstrates the context-specific effect of government involvement or

retrenchment. That said, the most important form of power is the influence individual users have in their interactions with staff. This also holds true for institutions that have transferred the most power to the collective arena for user influence. This is in line with earlier research on user influence in Nordic public services (Andersen, 2000; Möller, 1996).

National differences, between Sweden on the one hand, and Norway and Denmark on the other, regarding choice in the school sector suggest tension between different aspects of choice. The effects of distinctiveness and power alteration stemming from user choice pull in opposite directions: organisations that are more distinctive undermine exit options, since distinctive organisations cater to niches that want the distinguishing option. Less distinctiveness thus generates more competition and a more credible threat opportunity. These two indicators are logically related but are developed from different literature on different topics. The issue of power change can be traced to the literature on market mechanisms and how to rein in street-level bureaucrats (Le Grand, 2007; Rothstein, 1998). Here the power balance between users and public bureaucrats is the central issue. The indicator about distinctiveness is developed from the literature about nonprofit organisations and the three failures of the different institutional sectors (Salamon, 1987; Weisbrod, 1978). The basic argument is that different sectors in the welfare mix have unique qualities that make the range of public services more complete when they are all present (Smith & Grønbjerg, 2006), something that is beneficial for a diverse population (Phillips & Smith, 2011b). Both aspects of choice are important for citizens who use public services, and to make one a priority over the other is inconceivable based on the existing data; however, the tradeoff says something about the compromises that occur in small-scale democracy.

Earlier studies from Denmark have shown that there are less differences between different groups in society when it comes to actual actions taken in small-scale democracy as compared to large-scale democracy (Andersen, 2004 pp. 183-184). These studies have, however, looked at the general use of tools for user influence in small-scale democracy. The research focused on the welfare mix and market mechanisms is more cautious, as it is unclear how it is possible to obtain distinctions in the substance of services at the same time as equal quality is assured. The Danish case shows how nonprofit schools reluctantly made changes in the face of what they perceived to be increased competition from public schools when the latter increased the number of lessons per week. This reluctant move was done in order to avoid falling behind in terms of quality. One can envisage that increased freedom for nonpublic providers can lead to

increased deviations in quality, something that is regarded as unacceptable in the Scandinavian welfare model.

User choice in Swedish schools seems to create larger differences in results between high-and low-performing schools (Böhlmark & Holmlund, 2012; Lindbom, 2010). Moreover, the fragility of some elderly care users makes it difficult to envision that the benefit of user choice is the same for all groups. In a study based on Swedish data, Meinow et al. (2011) concluded that 'those elderly people who are most dependent on care services and who could benefit most from a 'good choice', are also those who have the highest prevalence of cognitive and physical limitations associated with the capacity to act as a rational consumer of care services'. This implies that choice mostly benefits the ones who need it the least and thereby perhaps increasing differences in elderly care since the ones who are weakest and least able to formulate their wishes do not enjoy the benefits from a choice opportunity.

In a study of Danish home care, Rostgaard (2006) found that new consumer citizens can have more influence over services, but that it leads to differences in the ability of users to exploit this opportunity. This issue is not possible to answer satisfactorily in this study, and further research on the topic in Scandinavia is needed. What this study does demonstrate, however, is the broad range of options that exist when designing welfare services and some of the mechanisms involved in determining outcomes for active citizenship. Governments can regulate shares of providers in the welfare mix and the activities of the providers in the welfare mix. The latter dimension concerns regulating user involvement at institutions, including users in policy processes, and allowing nonpublic institutions to develop along a different path than public institutions. The division between strictness and lenience on the two dimensions is decisive for active citizenship.

8.4 So what? Lessons for the real world

An Official Norwegian Report (NOU 2011: 11) explained that as society becomes more heterogeneous, welfare sectors will suffer from an increasing lack of labour and more demanding citizens; thus, more diversity in services is needed, especially when it comes to the institutional sector of the providers. The report goes so far as to suggest that by 2025, nonprofit providers should run 25 percent of the care sector. Although unwilling to support this ambition, the Norwegian government followed up by declaring that user influence, active

citizenship and local democracy will be key features of the future care sector (Helse & omsorgsdepartementet, 2013 p. 12). In these reports, the connection between service providers, citizenship roles, and services is assumed. However, the mechanisms that will supposedly produce the desired outcome received little attention.

The concern in these public documents is reaching governmental goals. In this dissertation, I instead focus on how individual citizens can maintain control over their lives when using public services. What is shared between the public documents and this dissertation is the interest in the importance of the institutional sector of institutions. The public policy thinking described above reveals faith in the independent importance of institutional sectors. This dissertation suggests that the institutional sector of the provider alone will not produce effects like the ones suggested in the public policy documents. To obtain changes through strategic use of providers from different institutional sectors, changes in institutional sectors must be combined with other changes to the organisation and governance of the institutions. The substantial differences between service areas demonstrate how looking at the provider alone elucidates only part of the picture. The third article illuminates how detachment from public steering, regulation and financing is what makes institutions from different institutional sectors distinct. It is unclear if this distinctiveness will produce the effects policymakers want, but without distinctiveness, it is difficult to believe that active governance of the welfare mix can achieve anything at all. Providing frame conditions that enable the distinctive operation of institutions is therefore a first step in actively using the welfare mix to obtain societal goals. This has implications for how policymakers approach their steering of the public sector. For a government wishing to reach goals such as social investments in schools (Jenson, 2013; Morel et al., 2012) or limiting public expenses in elderly care (Brennan et al., 2012; Christensen, 2012), it is natural to increase the level of public steering as a means to reach them. Such public steering undermines the opportunities institutions from different institutional sectors have to develop distinctive services, which is fundamental for reaping some of the benefits of active citizenship.

8.5 The welfare mix and active citizenship – next steps in research

Until now, much of the research done on small-scale democracy has been based on surveys and has thus been very useful for making generalisations (Andersen, 2004; Strømsnes, 2003;

Van Deth et al., 2007b); that said, they were not designed to capture differences between providers in the welfare mix. This dissertation has explicitly explored variations in the welfare mix from a citizen's perspective. This makes it somewhat of a pioneering work, as this combination has not been studied much in Scandinavia, but my use of a qualitative approach makes it difficult to offer more general inferences. A natural next step for this research would thus be to make quantitative comparisons between citizens with experiences from different providers in the welfare mix. This will yield more fruitful knowledge about the connection between small-scale democracy and the welfare mix. Moreover, such an approach will present opportunities to embed the research in existing operationalisations that have been achieved in earlier statistical studies. Due to the design of this investigation, some alternative operationalisations were necessary.

A complementary path forward is to expand the empirical scope of this study to include other welfare regimes the Scandinavian by comparing the Scandinavian experience with the liberal and continental regime (Esping-Andersen, 1990). Differences in the welfare mix is one of the main differences between the different regimes (Salamon et al., 2004) and investigating how the capacity for active citizenship plays out in these different contexts is a natural next step for this research.

9 Literature

- Adcock, R., & Collier, D. (2001). Measurement validity: A shared standard for qualitative and quantitative research. *American Political Science Review, 95*(3), 529-546.
- Alber, J. (1995). A framework for the comparative study of social services. *Journal of European Social Policy*, *5*(2), 131-149.
- Alford, J. (2014). The multiple facets of co-production: Building on the work of Elinor Ostrom. *Public Management Review, 16*(3), 299-316.
- Alm Andreassen, T. (2009). The consumerism of 'voice' in Norwegian health policy and its dynamics in the transformation of health services. *Public Money & Management, 29*(2), 117-122. doi: 10.1080/09540960902768012
- Andersen, J. G. (2000). Det lille demokrati. Nærdemokratiet i den offentlige sektor. In J. G. Andersen, L. Torpe, & J. Andersen (Eds.), *Hvad folket magter. Demokrati, magt og afmaft* (pp. 47-78). København: Jurist- og Økonomiforbundets Forlag.
- Andersen, J. G. (2003). Over-Danmark og under-Danmark?: Ulighed, velfærdsstat og politisk medborgerskab. Århus: Aarhus Universitetsforlag.
- Andersen, J. G. (2004). Et ganske levende demokrati. Århus: Aarhus universitetsforlag.
- Andersen, J. G. (2005). Citizenship, unemployment and welfare policy. In J. Gould Andersen, J.-G. Guillemard, P. H. Jensen, & B. Pfau-Effinger (Eds.), *The changing face of welfare*. Bristol: Polity Press.
- Andersen, J. G. (2006). Political power and democracy in Denmark: Decline of democracy or change in democracy? *Journal of European Public Policy*, 13(4), 569-586.
- Andersen, J. G., Guillemard, J.-G., Jensen, P. H., & Pfau-Effinger, B. (Eds.). (2005). *The changing face of welfare*. Bristol: Polity Press.
- Andersen, J. G., & Hoff, J. V. (2001). *Democracy and citizenship in Scandinavia*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Andersen, J. G., & Rossteutscher, S. (2007). Small-scale democracy: Citizen power in the domains of everyday life. In J. W. Van Deth, J. R. Montero, & A. Westholm (Eds.), *Citizenship and involvement in European democracies: A comparative analysis*. Oxon: Routledge.

- Anheier, H. K. (2005). *Nonprofit organizations. Theory, management, policy*. Oxon: Routledge Milton Parks.
- Anheier, H. K., & Salamon, L. M. (2006). The nonprofit sector in comparative perspective. In W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Antikainen, A. (2006). In search of the Nordic model in education. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *50*(3), 229-243.
- Anttonen, A., & Meagher, G. (2013). Mapping marketisation: Concepts and goals. In G. Meagher & M. Szebehely (Eds.), *Marketisation in Nordic eldercare: A research report on legislation, oversight, extent and consequences* (pp. 13-22). Stockholm: Department of Social Work, Stockholm University.
- Arnesen, A. L., & Lundahl, L. (2006). Still social and democratic? Inclusive education policies in the Nordic welfare states. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *50*(3), 285-300.
- Ascoli, U., & Ranci, C. (2002). The context of new social policy in Europe. In U. Ascoli & C. Ranci (Eds.), Dilemmas of the welfare mix. The new structure of welfare in an era of privatization (pp. 1-24). New York: Kluwer Adademic/Plenum Publishers.
- Bang, H. P., Hansen, A. D., & Hoff, J. (2000). Demokrati fra neden: Problematikker og teorertiske overvejelser. In H. P. Bang, A. D. Hansen, & J. Hoff (Eds.), *Demokrati fra neden. Casestudier fra en dansk kommune* (pp. 9-36). København: Jurist- og Økonomiforbundets Forlag.
- Bang, H. P., & Sørensen, E. (1999). The everyday maker: A new challenge to democratic governance. *Administrative Theory & Praxis*, 21(3), 325-341.
- Ben-Ner, A. (1986). Nonprofit organizations: Why do they exist in market economies. In S. Rose-Ackerman (Ed.), *The economics of nonprofit institutions: Studies in structure and policy* (pp. 94-113). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ben-Ner, A., & Van Hoomissen, T. (1991). Nonprofit organizations in the mixed economy. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 62(4), 519-550.
- Blatter, J., & Blume, T. (2008). In search of co-variance, causal mechanisms or congruence? Towards a plural understanding of case studies. *Swiss Political Science Review, 14*(2), 315-356.
- Blomqvist, P. (2004). The choice revolution: Privatization of Swedish welfare services in the 1990s. *Social Policy & Administration, 38*(2), 139-155.
- Blomqvist, P., & Rothstein, B. (2008). *Välfärdsstatens nya ansikte: Demokrati och marknadsreformer inom den offentliga sektorn*. Stockholm: Agora.

- Bogen, H. (2011). Privat drift av omsorgstjenester. Oslo: Fafo.
- Boje, T. P., & Potucek, M. (2011a). Introduction. In T. P. Boje & M. Potucek (Eds.), *Social rights, active citizenship and governance in the European Union*. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG.
- Boje, T. P., & Potucek, M. (Eds.) (2011b). *Social rights, active citizenship and governance in the European Union*. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG.
- Boris, E. T., & Steuerle, C. E. (Eds.) (2006). *Nonprofits & government: Collaboration & conflict*. Washington DC: Urban Institute Press.
- Bossy, D., Knutsen, I. R., Rogers, A., & Foss, C. (2015). Institutional logic in self-management support: Coexistence and diversity. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/hsc.12277
- Bottomore, T. (1992). Citizenship and social class, forty years on. *Citizenship and social class*. London: Pluto Press.
- Brady, H. E., Collier, D., & Seawright, J. (2010). Refocusing the discussion of methodology. In D. Collier & H. E. Brady (Eds.), *Rethinking social inquiry: Diverse tools, shared standards* (pp. 15-32). Lanham, MD.: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Brandsen, T., & Pestoff, V. (2006). Co-production, the third sector and the delivery of public services: An introduction. *Public Management Review*, *8*(4), 493-501.
- Brennan, D., Cass, B., Himmelweit, S., & Szebehely, M. (2012). The marketisation of care: Rationales and consequences in Nordic and liberal care regimes. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 22(4), 377-391.
- Buhr, D., & Stoy, V. (2015). More than just welfare transfers? A review of the scope of Esping-Andersen's welfare regime typology. *Social Policy and Society*, *14*(02), 271-285.
- Burau, V., & Kröger, T. (2004). Towards local comparisons of community care governance: Exploring the relationship between policy and politics. *Social Policy & Administration*, *38*(7), 793-810.
- Böhlmark, A., & Holmlund, H. (2012). Lika möjligheter. Familjebakgrund och skolprestationer 1988–2010 (pp. 53). Uppsala: Institutet för arbetsmarknads- och utbildningspolitisk utvärdering.
- Böhlmark, A., & Lindahl, M. (2015). Independent schools and long-run educational outcomes: Evidence from Sweden's large-scale voucher reform. *Economica*, *82*(327), 508-551. doi: 10.1111/ecca.12130

- Christensen, K. (2012). Towards a mixed economy of long-term care in Norway? *Critical Social Policy,* 32(4), 577-596.
- Clarke, J. (2006). Consumers, clients or citizens? Politics, policy and practice in the reform of social care. *European Societies*, *8*(3), 423-442.
- Clarke, J. H., Newman, J., Vidler, E., Westmarland, L., Smith, N., & Newman, J. E. (2007). *Creating citizen-consumers: Changing publics and changing public services*: Pine Forge Press.
- Clemens, E. S. (2006). The constitution of citizens: Political theories of nonprofit organizations. In W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Collier, D., & Levitsky, S. (1997). Democracy with adjectives: Conceptual innovation in comparative research. *World Politics*, *49*(03), 430-451.
- Collier, D., & Mahoney, J. (1996). Insights and pitfalls: Selection bias in qualitative research. *World Politics*, 49(01), 56-91.
- Commission, E. (1998). Education and active citizenship in the European Union. Brussels: European Commission.
- Comondore, V. R., Devereaux, P., Zhou, Q., Stone, S. B., Busse, J. W., Ravindran, N. C., . . . Cook, D. J. (2009). Quality of care in for-profit and not-for-profit nursing homes: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bmj*, *339*, b2732.
- Daly, M., & Lewis, J. (2000). The concept of social care and the analysis of contemporary welfare states. *The British Journal of Sociology, 51*(2), 281-298. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-4446.2000.00281.x
- Djuve, A. B., Sandbæk, M. L., & Lunde, H. (2011). Likeverdige tjenester? Storbyenes tjenestetilbud til en etnisk mangfoldig befolkning. Oslo: Fafo.
- Domberger, S., & Jensen, P. (1997). Contracting out by the public sector: Theory, evidence, prospects. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *13*(4), 67-78.
- Dunning, T. (2010). Design-based inference: Beyond the pitfalls of regression analysis? In D. Collier & H. E. Brady (Eds.), *Rethinking social inquiry: Diverse tools, shared standards* (pp. 273-312). Lanham, MD.: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Earles, K. (2011). Swedish family policy Continuity and change in the Nordic welfare state model. *Social Policy & Administration, 45*(2), 180-193. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9515.2010.00763.x

- Edmark, K., Frölich, M., & Wondratschek, V. (2014). Sweden's school choice reform and equality of opportunity. *Labour Economics*, *30*, 129-142. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2014.04.008
- Eikås, M., & Selle, P. (2002). A contract culture even in Scandinavia. In U. Ascoli & C. Ranci (Eds.), Dilemmas of the welfare mix. The new structure of welfare in an era of privatization. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Elster, J. (1993). *Political psychology*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Enjolras, B. (2009). A governance-structure approach to voluntary organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *38*(5), 761-783.
- Eriksen, E. O., & Weigård, J. (1993). Fra statsborger til kunde. Statsvetenskaplig tidskrift, 9, 111-131.
- Erlandsson, S., Storm, P., Stranz, A., Szebehely, M., & Trydegård, G.-B. (2013). Marketising trends in Swedish eldercare: Competition, choice and calls for stricter regulation. In G. Meagher & M. Szebehely (Eds.), *Marketisation in Nordic eldercare: A research report on legislation, oversight, extent and consequences.* Stockholm: Department of Social Work, Stockholm University.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). The three worlds of welfare capitalism. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Evers, A., & Guillemard, A.-M. (2013a). Introduction: Marshall's concept of citizenship and contemporary welfare reconfiguration. In A. Evers & A.-M. Guillemard (Eds.), *Social policy and citizenship: The changing landscape*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Evers, A., & Guillemard, A.-M. (Eds.) (2013b). *Social policy and citizenship: The changing landscape*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Evers, A., Haverinen, R., Leichsenring, K., & Wistow, G. (Eds.) (1997). *Developing quality in personal social services. Concepts, Cases and Comments*. European Centre Vienna: Ashgate.
- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. (1983). Agency problems and residual claims. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 327-349.
- Feltenius, D. (Forthcoming). Elderly care in Scandinavia: Marketization and local governing of nursing homes. In K. H. Sivesind & J. Saglie (Eds.), *Promoting active citizenship? Markets and choice in Scandinavian welfare. London*: Palgrave.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five misunderstandings about case-study research. *Qualitative inquiry, 12*(2), 219-245.

- Fotaki, M., & Boyd, A. (2005). From plan to market: A comparison of health and old age care policies in the UK and Sweden. *Public Money & Management, 25*(4), 237-243.
- Fritzell, J., Hvinden, B., Kautto, M., Kvist, J., & Uusitalo, H. (2005). *Nordic welfare states in the European context*: Routledge.
- Fuller, S., Kershaw, P., & Pulkingham, J. (2008). Constructing 'active citizenship': Single mothers, welfare, and the logics of voluntarism. *Citizenship Studies*, *12*(2), 157-176.
- Gautun, H., Bogen, H., & Grødem, A. S. (2013). Konsekvenser av konkurranseutsetting. Kvalitet, effektivitet og arbeidsvilkår i sykehjem og hjemmetjenesten. Oslo: FAFO.
- George, A. L., & Bennett, A. (2005). *Case studies and theory development in the social sciences*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Gerring, J. (2007). *Case study research: Principles and practices*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gerring, J. (2008). Case selection for case-study analysis: Qualitative and quantitative techniques. In J.
 M. Box-Steffensmeier, H. E. Brady, & D. Collier (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of political methodology* (pp. 645-684). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gerring, J., & McDermott, R. (2007). Internal validity: An experimental template. In J. Gerring (Ed.), Case study research: Principles and practices (pp. 151-171). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Giddens, A. (1998). *The third way: The renewal of social democracy*: John Wiley & Sons.
- Goertz, G. (2006). Social science concepts: A user's guide. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Goodin, R. E. (2003). Democratic accountability: The distinctiveness of the third sector. *European Journal of Sociology, 44*(03), 359-396.
- Gulbrandsen, T., & Ødegård, G. (2011). Frivillige organisajoner i en ny tid: utfordringer og endringsprosesser (Vol. 2011:1). Oslo: Senter for forskning på sivilsamfunn og frivillig sektor.
- Gustavsen, A., Røiseland, A., & Pierre, J. (2014). Procedure or performance? Assessing citizen's attitudes toward legitimacy in Swedish and Norwegian local government. *Urban Research & Practice*, 7(2), 200-212.
- Habermas, J. (1989). The theory of communicative action. Volume 2. Lifeworld and system: A critique of functionalist reason. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Habermas, J. (1994). Citizenship and national identity. In B. Van Steenbergen (Ed.), *The condition of citizenship* (Vol. 29): SAGE Publications Limited.

- Hansmann, H. (1980). The role of nonprofit enterprise. Yale Law Journal, 835-901.
- Hansmann, H. (1987). Economic theories of nonprofit organization. *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook, 1,* 27-42.
- Hanushek, E. A., Link, S., & Woessmann, L. (2013). Does school autonomy make sense everywhere? Panel estimates from PISA. *Journal of Development Economics, 104*, 212-232. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2012.08.002
- Harrington, C., Olney, B., Carrillo, H., & Kang, T. (2012). Nurse staffing and deficiencies in the largest for-profit nursing home chains and chains owned by private equity companies. *Health Services Research*, *47*(1pt1), 106-128.
- Hartman, L. (2011). *Konkurrensens konsekvenser: Vad händer med svensk välfärd?* Stockholm: SNS Förlag.
- Haugen, P. K., & Engedal, K. (2005). *Demens. fakta og utfordringer, en lærebok* (Vol. 4. utgave). Oslo: Aldring og helse.
- Haugh, H., & Kitson, M. (2007). The Third way and the third sector: New Labour's economic policy and the social economy. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *31*(6), 973-994.
- Helgesen, M. K. (2006). Brukermedvirkning-realiteter og idealer. Om brukeres medvirkning på systemnivå i kommunene *Networks* (Vol. NOTAT 2006:113). Oslo: NIBR.
- Helgøy, I., & Homme, A. (2006). Policy tools and institutional change: Comparing education policies in Norway, Sweden and England. *Journal of Public Policy*, 26(02), 141-165.
- Helland, H., & Lauglo, J. (2005). Har frittstående grunnskoler økt segregeringen? Oslo: NIFU STEP.
- Helminen, M. (2015). Nordic and Scottish civil society organisations working with offenders and the effects of service delivery: Is pursuing mission impossible whilst bidding for contracts? *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice*, n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/hojo.12152
- Helse, & omsorgsdepartementet. (2013). *Morgendagens omsorg* (Vol. 29(2012-2013)). [Oslo]: [Regjeringen].
- Henriksen, L. S., & Bundesen, P. (2004). The moving frontier in Denmark: Voluntary-state relationships since 1850. *Journal of Social Policy*, *33*(04), 605-625.
- Henriksen, L. S., Smith, S. R., & Zimmer, A. (2012). At the eve of convergence? Transformations of social service provision in Denmark, Germany, and the United States. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 23*(2), 458-501.

- Hermansen, Å., & Gautun, H. (2011). Eldreomsorg under press. Kommunenes helse- og omsorgstilbud til eldre. Oslo: FAFO.
- Hernes, H. M. (1988). Scandinavian citizenship. Acta Sociologica, 31(3), 199-215.
- Hinrichs, K., & Kangas, O. (2003). When is a change big enough to be a system shift? Small systemshifting changes in German and Finnish pension policies. *Social Policy & Administration*, *37*(6), 573-591. doi: 10.1111/1467-9515.00359
- Hirdman, Y. (1987). Makt och kön. In O. Petersson (Ed.), *Maktbegreppet*. Stockholm: Carlssons Förlag.
- Hirschman, A. O. (1970). *Exit, voice, and loyalty: Responses to decline in firms, organizations, and states* (Vol. 25). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Hjort, T., & Panican, A. (2014). Navigating the market of welfare services: The choice of upper secondary school in Sweden. *Nordic Journal of Social Research*, 5.
- Hoff, J. (1993). Medborgerskab, brugerrolle og magt. In J. Andersen, A.-D. Christensen, K. Langberg, B. Siim, & L. Torpe (Eds.), *Medborgerskab: Demokrati og politisk deltagelse* (pp. 75-106). Herning: Systime.
- Holford, J., & van der Veen, R. (Eds.) (2003). *Lifelong learning, governance and active citizenship in Europe*. Brussels: European Commission Project HPSE-CT-1999-00012.
- Hood, C., & Dixon, R. (2015). A government that worked better and cost less? Evaluating three decades of reform and change in UK central government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hoskins, B. L. (2014). Active citizenship. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of quality of life and well-being research* (Vol. 1, pp. 14-16) The Netherlands: Springer.
- Hoskins, B. L., & Mascherini, M. (2009). Measuring active citizenship through the development of a composite indicator. *Social Indicators Research*, *90*(3), 459-488.
- Hvinden, B., & Johansson, H. (2007a). Opening citizenship. Why do we need a new understanding of social citizenship? In B. Hvinden & H. Johansson (Eds.), *Citizenship in Nordic welfare states:*Dynamics of choice, duties and participation in a changing Europe. London: Routledge.
- Hvinden, B., & Johansson, H. (Eds.) (2007b). *Citizenship in Nordic welfare states: Dynamics of choice, duties and participation in a changing Europe*. London: Routledge.
- James, E. (1990). Economic theories of the nonprofit sector. In H. K. Anheier & W. Seibel (Eds.), *The Third sector: Comparative studies of nonprofit organizations*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter.

- James, E. (1993). Why do different countries choose a different public-private mix of educational services? *Journal of Human Resources*, 571-592.
- Janoski, T. (1998). *Citizenship and civil society: A framework of rights and obligations in liberal, traditional, and social democratic regimes*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Jensen, P. H., & Pfau-Effinger, B. (2005). Active citizenship: The new face of welfare. In J. Gould Andersen, J.-G. Guillemard, P. H. Jensen, & B. Pfau-Effinger (Eds.), *The Changing face of welfare*. Bristol: Polity Press.
- Jenson, J. (2013). Changing perspectives on social citizenship: A cross-time comparison. In A. Evers & A.-M. Guillemard (Eds.), *Social policy and citizenship: The changing landscape*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- King, G., Keohane, R. O., & Verba, S. (1994). *Designing social inquiry: Scientific inference in qualitative research*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Kjølsrød, L. (2005). En tjenesteintens velferdsstat. In I. Frønes & L. Kjølsrød (Eds.), *Det norske samfunn* (pp. 184-209). Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk.
- Klausen, J. E., Arnesen, S., Christensen, D. A., Folkestad, B., Sandkjær Hanssen, G., Winsvold, M., & Aars, J. (2013). *Medvirkning med virkning?: Innbyggermedvirkning i den kommunale beslutningsprosessen*. Oslo: Norsk institutt for by- og regionforskning.
- Kriesi, H., & Westholm, A. (2007). Small-scale democracy: The determinants of action. In J. W. Van Deth, J. R. Montero, & A. Westholm (Eds.), *Citizenship and involvement in European democracies: A comparative analysis*. Oxon: Routledge.
- Kristensen, N. N. (1999). New public management: -Brugerindflydelse og politisk identitet. Aalborg: Institut for politik, økonomi of forvaltning, Aalborg universitet.
- Kröger, T. (1997). Local government in Scandinavia: Autonomous or integrated into the welfare state? In J. Sipilä (Ed.), *Social care services: The key to the Scandinavian welfare model* (pp. 95-108). Avebury: Aldershot.
- Kuhnle, S., & Selle, P. (Eds.) (1992). Government and voluntary organizations. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Kumlin. (2004). *The personal and the political: How personal welfare state experiences affect political trust and ideology*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Le Grand, J. (2007). *The other invisible hand: Delivering public services through choice and competition*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Le Grand, J., & Bartlett, W. (1993). The theory of quasi-markets. In J. Le Grand & W. Bartlett (Eds.), Quasi-markets and social policy (pp. 13-34). London: MacMillan Press Ltd.
- Lijphart, A. (1971). Comparative politics and the comparative method. *The American Political Science Review*, 682-693.
- Lindbom, A. (2010). School choice in Sweden: Effects on student performance, school costs, and segregation. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *54*(6), 615-630.
- Lipsky, M. (1980). *Street-level bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the individual in public services*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Loughlin, J., Hendriks, F., & Lidström, A. (2011). Introduction. In J. Loughlin, F. Hendriks, & A. Lidström (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of local and regional democracy in Europe*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lundbäck, M., & Lundberg, A. (2012). Varför är det så få idéburna organisationer i välfärden? (Vol. Rapport 0142, pp. 52). Stockholm: Tillväxtverket.
- Lundqvist, L. (2001). Privatisering. In B. Rothstein (Ed.), *Politik som organisation* (pp. 213-240). Stockholm: SNS förlag.
- Mahoney, J. (2007). Qualitative methodology and comparative politics. *Comparative Political Studies,* 40(2), 122-144. doi: 10.1177/0010414006296345
- Marshall, T. H. (1950). Citizenship and social class (Vol. 11): Cambridge.
- Marshall, T. H. (1950). Class, citizenship and social development: Essays. New York: Doubleday.
- Mead, L. M. (1997). Citizenship and social policy: T.H. Marshall and poverty. In E. F. Paul, F. D. Miller, & J. Pauls (Eds.), *The welfare state*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Meagher, G., & Szebehely, M. (2013a). Four Nordic countries Four responses to the international trend of marketisation. In G. Meagher & M. Szebehely (Eds.). Stockholm: Department of Social Work, Stockholm University.
- Meagher, G. & Szebehely, M. (Eds.) (2013b). *Marketisation in Nordic eldercare: A research report on legislation, oversight, extent and consequences*. Stockholm: Department of Social Work, Stockholm University.
- Meinow, B., Parker, M. G., & Thorslund, M. (2011). Consumers of eldercare in Sweden: The semblance of choice. *Social Science & Medicine*, 73(9), 1285-1289.
- Miller, D. (2000). Citizenship and national identity. Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Mjøset, L. (2006). A case study of strategies of generalization and specification in the study of Israel as a single case. *International Sociology*, *21*(5), 735-766.
- Mjøset, L. (2009). The contextualist approach to social science methodology. In D. Byrne & C. C. Ragin (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of case-based methods* (pp. 39-69). London: Sage.
- Morel, N., Palier, B., & Palme, J. (2012). *Towards a social investment welfare state?: Ideas, policies and challenges*: Polity Press.
- Musset, P. (2012). School choice and equity. Current policies in OECD countries and a literature review. *OECD Education Working Papers, No. 66*: OECD Publishing.
- Møller, J. (2009). School leadership in an age of accountability: Tensions between managerial and professional accountability. *Journal of Educational Change, 10*(1), 37-46. doi: 10.1007/s10833-008-9078-6
- Möller, T. (1996). *Brukare och klienter i välfärdsstaten: Om missnöje och påverkansmöjligheter inom barn- och äldreomsorg.* Stockholm: Publica.
- Newman, J., & Tonkens, E. (Eds.) (2011). *Participation, responsibility and choice: Summoning the active citizen in western European welfare states*. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- NHO Service (2015). Statistikk og trender 2015. Oslo: NHO Service.
- Norsk senter for menneskerettigheter (2014). MENNESKERETTIGHETER I NORSKE SYKEHJEM. Oslo: Juridisk fakultet, Universitetet i Oslo.
- NOU 2011: 11. Innovasjon i omsorg: utredning fra utvalg oppnevnt ved kongelig resolusjon av 26. juni 2009: avgitt til Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet 16. juni 2011. Oslo: Departementenes servicesenter, Informasjonsforvaltning.
- OECD (2011). Together for better public services: Partnering with citizens and civil Society. Paris: OECD.
- Oftedal Telhaug, A., Asbjørn Mediås, O., & Aasen, P. (2006). The Nordic model in education: Education as part of the political system in the last 50 years. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *50*(3), 245-283. doi: 10.1080/00313830600743274
- Olsen, J. P. (1990). Demokrati på Svenska. Stockholm: Carlson Bokförlag.
- Osborne, S. P., Radnor, Z., & Nasi, G. (2013). A new theory for public service management? Toward a (public) service-dominant approach. *The American Review of Public Administration, 43*(2), 135-158.

- Óskarsdóttir, S. (2007). From active states to active citizenship? The impact of economic openness and transnational governance. In B. Hvinden & H. Johansson (Eds.), *Citizenship in Nordic welfare states: Dynamics of choice, duties and participation in a changing Europe*. London: Routledge.
- Palier, B. (2007). Beyond retrenchment: Four problems in current welfare state research and one suggestion on how to overcome. In C. Pierson & F. G. Casltles (Eds.), *Welfare state reader. Second edition* (pp. 358-374). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Parks, R. B., Baker, P. C., Kiser, L., Oakerson, R., Ostrom, E., Ostrom, V., . . . Wilson, R. (1981). Consumers as coproducers of public services: Some economic and institutional considerations. *Policy Studies Journal*, *9*(7), 1001-1011.
- Pavolini, E., & Ranci, C. (2008). Restructuring the welfare state: Reforms in long-term care in Western European countries. *Journal of European Social Policy, 18*(3), 246-259. doi: 10.1177/0958928708091058
- Perry, J. L., Hondeghem, A., & Wise, L. R. (2010). Revisiting the motivational bases of public service: Twenty years of research and an agenda for the future. *Public Administration Review, 70*(5), 681-690.
- Perry, J. L., & Katula, M. C. (2001). Does service affect citizenship? *Administration & Society, 33*(3), 330-365.
- Pestoff, V. A. (2009). A democratic architecture for the welfare state. Oxon: Routledge.
- Petersen, O. H., Hjelmar, U., Vrangbæk, K., & la Cour, L. (2011). Effekter ved udlicitering af offentlige opgaver. Copenhagen: AKF, Anvendt KommunalForskning.
- Petersen, O. H., Hjelmar, U., Vrangbæk, K., & Larsen, P. T. (2014). Effekter ved udlicitering af offentlige opgaver: En forskningsoversigt over danske og internationale studier fra 2011-2014. Roskilde: Roskilde Universitet.
- Petersen, O. H., Houlberg, K., & Christensen, L. R. (2015). Contracting out local services: A tale of technical and social services. *Public Administration Review, 75*(4), 560-570.
- Petersson, O., Westholm, A., & Blomberg, G. (1989). Medborgarnas makt. Stockholm: Carlssons.
- Phillips, S. D., & Smith, S. R. (2011). Between governance and regulation. Evolving government Third sector relationships. In S. D. Phillips & S. R. Smith (Eds.), *Governance and regulation in the third sector: International perspectives*. New York: Routledge.

- Ragin, C. C. (1994). *Constructing social research: The unity and diversity of method*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Pine Forge Press.
- Ragin, C. C. (2004). Turning the tables: How case-oriented research challenges variable-oriented research. In H. E. Brady & D. Collier (Eds.), *Rethinking social inquiry: Diverse tools, shared standards*. Plymouth: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Ragin, C. C. (2008). *Redesigning social inquiry: Fuzzy sets and beyond*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Rangvid, B. S. (2010). School choice, universal vouchers and native flight from local schools. *European Sociological Review*, *26*(3), 319-335. doi: 10.1093/esr/jcp024
- Rose, L. E. (2007). User boards and user control: Increment or detriment to local democracy? In H. Reynaert, K. Steyvers, P. Delwit, & J.-B. Pilet (Eds.), *Towards DIY-politics: Participatory and direct democracy at the local level in Europe* (pp. 127 164). Brugge: Vanden Broele.
- Rose, L. E. (2011). Den krevende borger: Kveles lokaldemokratiet? In H. Baldersheim & E. Smith (Eds.), *Lokalt demokrati uten kommunalt selvstyre?* Oslo: Abstrakt forlag.
- Rostgaard, T. (2006). Constructing the care consumer: Free choice of home care for the elderly in Denmark. *European Societies*, *8*(3), 443-463.
- Rostgaard, T. (2011). Care as you like it: The construction of a consumer approach in home care in Denmark. *Nordic Journal of Social Research*, 2.
- Rostgaard, T. (2015). Når fortiden er længere end fremtiden. Stockholm Nordens Välfärdscenter.
- Rothstein, B. (1994). Vad bör staten göra. Stockholm SNS Förlag.
- Rothstein, B. (1998). *Just institutions matter: The moral and political logic of the universal welfare state*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rothstein, B. (2009). Creating political legitimacy: Electoral democracy versus quality of government. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *53*(3), 311-330. doi: 10.1177/0002764209338795
- Rönnberg, L. (2014). Justifying the need for control. Motives for Swedish national school inspection during two governments. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *58*(4), 385-399.
- Salamon, L. M. (1987). Of market failure, voluntary failure, and third-party government: Toward a theory of government-nonprofit relations in the modern welfare state. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 16*(1-2), 29-49.

- Salamon, L. M. (2002). *The tools of government: A guide to the new governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Salamon, L. M., & Anheier, H. K. (1998). Social origins of civil society: Explaining the nonprofit sector cross-nationally. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 9(3), 213-248.
- Salamon, L. M., Sokolowski, S. W., & Associates. (2004). *Global civil society: Dimensions of the nonprofit sector. Volume two.* Bloomfield, CT: Kumarian Press.
- Salamon, L. M., & Toepler, S. (2015). Government—Nonprofit cooperation: Anomaly or necessity? *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 26*(6), 2155-2177.
- Savas, E. S. (1987). *Privatization: The key to better government*. Chatham, NJ: Chatham House Publishers.
- Seeleib-Kaiser, M. (Ed.) (2008). *Welfare state transformations: Comparative perspectives*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Segaard, S. B. (2015). Skole og eldreomsorg i Skandinavia. Nasjonale føringer for ikke-offentlige aktører (pp. 190). Oslo: Institutt for samfunnsforskning.
- Sejersted, F. (2005). Sosialdemokratiets tidsalder. Norge og Sverige i det 20. århundre. Oslo: Pax forlag.
- Selle, P. (2008). Forståinga av sivilsamfunnet. Er det berre opp til augo som ser? . *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning*, 49(4).
- Selle, P. (2016). Frivillighetens marginalisering. Tidsskrift for velferdsforskning, 1(01).
- Selle, P. & Kuhnle, S. (1990). Meeting needs in a welfare state: Relations between government and voluntary organizations in Norway. In A. Ware & R. E. Goodin (Eds.), *Needs and welfare* London: Sage.
- Selznick, P. (1992). *The moral commonwealth: Social theory and the promise of community*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Sipilä, J. (1997). Social care services: The key to the Scandinavian welfare model: Avebury: Aldershot.
- Sivesind, K. H. (2007). Structured, qualitative comparisons: Between singularity and single-dimensionality. In S. Sarantakos (Ed.), *Data analysis (SAGE benchmarks in social research methods. Volume 1)* (pp. 113-134). London: Sage Publications ltd.

- Sivesind, K. H. (2013). Ideella välfärdstjänster: En lösning på den skandinaviska modellens framtida utmaningar? In L. Trägårdh, P. Selle, L. S. Henriksen, & H. Hallin (Eds.), *Civilsamhället klämt mellan stat och kapital. Välfärd, mångfold, framtid* (pp. 75-88). Stockholm: SNS Förlag.
- Sivesind, K. H. (2015). Giving in Norway: An ambitious welfare state with a self-reliant nonprofit sector. *The Palgrave handbook of global philanthropy* (pp. 230).
- Sivesind, K. H. (2016). Endring av fordelingen mellom ideelle, kommersielle og offentlige velferdstjenester i Skandinavia. In K. H. Sivesind (Ed.), *Mot en ny skandinavisk velferdsmodell? Konsekvenser av ideell, kommersiell og offentlig tjenesteyting for aktivt medborgerskap*. Oslo: Institutt for samfunnsforskning.
- Sivesind, K. H. & Selle, P. (2009). Does public spending "crowd out" nonprofit welfare? *Comparative Social Research*, *26*, 105-134.
- Sivesind, K. H. & Selle, P. (2010). Civil society in the Nordic countries: Between displacement and vitality. In A. R & S. H (Eds.), *Nordic Associations in a European Perspective* (pp. 89-120). Baden Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Skelcher, C. & Smith, S. R. (2014). Theorizing hybridity: Institutional logics, complex organizations, and actor identities: The case of nonprofits. *Public Administration*.
- Skolverket. (2014). Privata aktörer inom förskola och skola. En nationell kartläggning av enskilda huvudmän och ägare (Vol. 410, pp. 72). Stockholm: Skolverket.
- Smith, S. R. & Grønbjerg, K. A. (2006). Scope and theory of government-nonprofit relations. In W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook* (pp. 221-242). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Smith, S. R. & Lipsky, M. (2009). *Nonprofits for hire: The welfare state in the age of contracting*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Solevid, M. (2009). *Voices from the welfare state. Dissatisfaction and political action in Sweden.*Gothenburg: University of Gothenburg.
- St. Meld. 29 (2012–2013). *Morgendagens omsorg*. Oslo: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet.
- Steinberger, R. (2006). Economic theories of nonprofit organizations. In W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook* (pp. 117-139). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Stolt, R., Blomqvist, P., & Winblad, U. (2011). Privatization of social services: Quality differences in Swedish elderly care. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(4), 560-567.

- Strømsnes, K. (2003). *Folkets makt. Medborgerskap, demokrati, deltakelse*. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Swagerty, D. L. (2005). The context for nursing home resident care: The role of leaders in developing strategies. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *31*(2), 40.
- Thomas, G. (2011). A typology for the case study in social science following a review of definition, discourse, and structure. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *17*(6), 511-521.
- Thornton, P. H., Ocasio, W., & Lounsbury, M. (2012). *The institutional logics perspective: A new approach to culture, structure, and process*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Thuen, H. & Tveit, K. (2013). Privatskolane vere eller ikkje vere? Fire hundre år i motgang og medgang. *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning*, *54*(04), 493-508.
- Thøgersen, M. (2015). Offentlige og frivillige velfærdsudbydere og aktivt medborgerskab En analyse af plejehjems- og skoleområdet i to udvalgte kommuner. Aalborg: Netværk for forskning i Civilsamfund og Frivillighed.
- Toepler, S. (2010). Government funding policies. In B. Seaman & D. R. Young (Eds.), *Handbook of research on nonprofit economics and management* (pp. 320-334). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Togeby, L. (2005). Hvorfor den store forskel? Om den danske magtudrednings konklusioner om demokratiets tilstand i Danmark omkring årtusindskiftet. *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning,* 46(1), 55-60.
- Togeby, L., Jørgensen, T. B., Andersen, J. G., Munk Christiansen, P., & Valgårda, S. (2003). *Magt og demokrati i Danmark: hovedresutater fra Magtudredningen*. Århus: Aarhus universitetsforlag.
- Tranvik, T., & Selle, P. (2005). State and citizens in Norway: Organisational society and state—municipal relations. *Western European Politics*, *28*(4), 852-871.
- Trägårdh, L. (1997). Statist individualism: On the culturality of the Nordic. In Ø. Sørensen & B. Stråth (Eds.), *The cultural construction of Norden* (pp. 253-285). Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Trägårdh, L. (2008). Det civila samhällets karriär som vetenskapligt och politiskt begrepp i Sverige. *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning* (4), 575-594.
- Trägårdh, L. & Svedberg, L. (2013). The iron law of rights: Citizenship and individual empowerment in Modern Sweden. In A. Evers & A.-M. Guillemard (Eds.), *Social policy and citizenship: The changing landscape*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Trætteberg, H. D. & Sivesind, K. H. (2015). Ideelle organisasjoners særtrekk og merverdi på helse- og omsorgsfeltet (pp. 56). Oslo/Bergen: Senter for forskning på sivilsamfunn og frivillig sektor.

- Utdanningsdirektoratet (2016). Skolefakta grunnskole. Nasjonal oversikt. Retrieved February 22, 2016, from https://skoleporten.udir.no/oversikt/oversikt?enhetsid=00&skoletypemenuid=0
- Utdanningsforbundet (2014). Nøkkeltall for grunnskolen t.o.m. skoleåret 2013/14. Oslo: Utdanningsforbundet, seksjon for samfunn og analyse.
- Vabo, S. I. (2012). Tiltakende statlig styring av kommunesektoren også på eldreområdet? In M. Reitan, J. Saglie & E. Smith (Eds.), *Det Norske flernivådemokratiet* (pp. 97-135). Oslo: Abstrakt.
- Vabø, M., Christensen, K., Jacobsen, F. F., & Trætteberg, H. D. (2013). Marketization in Norwegian eldercare. Preconditions, trends and resistance. In G. Meagher & M. Szebehely (Eds.), *Marketisation in Nordic eldercare: A research report on legislation, oversight, extent and consequences* (pp. 163-202). Stockholm: Noma care.
- Van Deth, J. W., Montero, J. R., & Westholm, A. (2007a). Introduction. Citizenship, involvement, and democracy in Europe. In J. W. Van Deth, J. R. Montero, & A. Westholm (Eds.), *Citizenship and involvement in European democracies: A comparative analysis* (pp. 1-32). Oxon: Routledge.
- Van Deth, J. W., Montero, J. R., & Westholm, A. (Eds.) (2007b). *Citizenship and involvement in European democracies: A comparative analysis*. Oxon: Routledge.
- Van Lancker, W. (2013). Putting the child-centred investment strategy to the test: Evidence for EU27. European Journal of Social Security, 15(1), 4-27.
- Vedøy, T. F. (2007). Avmakt og autonomi i nærdemokratiet: En studie av endringer i demokratisk deltagelse innen helsevesenet, skolevesenet og arbeidslivet. (Master), Universitetet i Oslo, Oslo.
- Verba, S. & Nie, N. H. (1972). *Participation in America: Political democracy and social equality*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Verhoeven, I. & Tonkens, E. (2013). Talking active citizenship: Framing welfare state reform in England and the Netherlands. *Social Policy and Society, 12*(3), 415-426.
- Vrangbaek, K. & Østergren, K. (2006). Patient empowerment and the introduction of hospital choice in Denmark and Norway. *Health Economics, Policy and Law, 1*(04), 371-394.
- Waslander, S., Pater, C., & Van Der Weide, M. (2010). Markets in education: An analytical review of empirical research on market mechanisms in education. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 52: OECD Publishing (NJ1).

- Weisbrod, B. A. (1978). *The voluntary nonprofit sector: An economic analysis*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Weisbrod, B. A. (1988). The nonprofit economy. MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wiborg, S. (2013). Neo-liberalism and universal state education: The cases of Denmark, Norway and Sweden 1980–2011. *Comparative Education, 49*(4), 407-423. doi: 10.1080/03050068.2012.700436
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ødegård, G. (2011). Medborgerskap, politisk deltagelse og makt. Et ungdomsperspektiv. Oslo: Institutt for samfunnsforskning.
- Østerud, Ø. (2005). Norsk og dansk demokrati. Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning, 46(1), 61-62.